University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Biomedical Sciences ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

7-1-2010

The role of Bcl-2 modifying factor (Bmf) in airway epithelial cell death

Amelia H.T. Unione

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds

Recommended Citation

Unione, Amelia H.T.. "The role of Bcl-2 modifying factor (Bmf) in airway epithelial cell death." (2010). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds/22

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biomedical Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Amelia Unione

Candidate

BSGP

Department

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

, Chairperson 10 Wi Tide Yolian est a 3

The Role of Bel-2 Modifying Factor (BMF) in Airway Epithelial Cell Death

by

Amelia H.T. Unione

B.S. Health Science Studies, Boise State University, 2001

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy Biomedical Sciences

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July 2010

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation for my mentor Yohannes Tesfaigzi who despite being a very busy scientist always made time to discuss experiments, results, and how to move this dissertation project forward. Yohannes' patient mentoring enabled me to improve my scientific writing and presentation skills. In addition, my committee members Laurie Hudson, Helen Hathaway, Steve Belinsky, and Bridget Wilson have also provided support and valuable guidance throughout this process.

I would like to thank my parents, my heroes, Rebecca Ennis-Unione and Alfred Unione. My parents are quintessential students of life, explorers, and humanitarians. They place tremendous value on education and hard work, which they instilled in their children. Their love and encouragement allowed me to develop the courage and determination to pursue and complete a post-graduate degree in science. I would like to express my gratitude to my ninety-four year old grandmother Theresa Ritzo Unione who inspired me to work hard, but to enjoy what there is to enjoy. My courageous and intelligent sisters; Jennifer Cannon-Unione, Wendy Marceron, Vibhati Kulkarny, and Allison Unione were always there to offer encouragement when the obstacles associated with completing this dissertation project seemed impossible. I would also like to thank the love of my life and my best friend, Jorge I. Contreras, his support and love have been invaluable. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge my mentor in faith SGI president Dr. Daisaku Ikeda, his words have inspired me to never lose hope and to value education as a means of accomplishing world peace.

III



by

Amelia H.T. Unione

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy Biomedical Sciences

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July 2010

The Role of Bcl-2 Modifying Factor (Bmf) in Airway Epithelial

Cell Death

By

Amelia H.T. Unione

B.S. Health Science Studies, Boise State University, 2001

ABSTRACT

One of the components that obstruct the airway in asthma is the sudden and increased secretion of mucus from metaplastic mucous cells in small airways. Because previous studies have shown that the resolution of mucous cell metaplasia (MCM) during prolonged exposure of mice to allergen is mediated by IFNγ and the Bcl-2 family of proteins, we investigated the regulation and the role of a pro-apoptotic BH3 domain-only protein, Bmf, in airway epithelial cells (AECs) treated with IFNγ. We hypothesize that Bmf is crucial for IFNγ-induced cell death. Our findings show that IFNγ suppressed Bmf expression in a p53-dependent manner. IFNγ treatment caused nuclear accumulation, increased association of p53 with HDAC1, the reduction of acetylated p53, and the interaction of p53 with the Bmf promoter. This reduction was primarily of the higher molecular weight Bmf that was found to increase cell colony formation *in vitro*. Bmf

was important for the resolution of MCM during prolonged exposure to allergen because the mucous cell numbers did not decline in $bmf^{-/-}$ mice compared to wild-type controls during prolonged exposure to allergen. In addition, $bmf^{-/-}$ mouse airway epithelial cells (MAECs) were resistant to IFN γ -induced cell death. Previous studies in cancer cell lines have shown that Bmf mediates cell death in response to histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis). We found that HDACis increased expression of Bmf in AECs through the displacement of HDAC1 and the acetylation of histones 3 and 4 associated with the Bmf promoter. Bmf-deficient AECs were resistant to HDACi-induced cell death, while expressing Bmf in the $bmf^{-/-}$ MAECs restored this cell death process demonstrating that Bmf is a critical mediator of this cell death process. In conclusion, these findings show that Bmf mediates IFN γ - and HDACi-induced cell death in AECs and implies that HDACis may be useful for treatment of cancers and for reducing AEC hyperplasia and MCM, thereby reducing mucous hypersecretions and airway obstruction in chronic diseases.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	IX
List of Abbreviations	XI
Chapter 1 Introduction	01
1.1 Mechanisms involved in apoptotic cell death	02
1.2 Regulation of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 family.	03
1.3 The BH3 domain-only protein Bmf	05
1.4 Regulation of AEC number in asthma	07
1.5 The role of IFNy in the resolution of MCM	08
1.6 p53 and apoptosis	09
1.7 Hypothesis	10
1.8 Model	11
1.9 References	12
Chapter 2 IFNy Deacetylates p53 To Suppress Bmf Expression	15
2.1 Abstract	16
2.2 Introduction	17
2.3 Experimental Procedures	19
2.4 Results	24
2.5 Discussion	29
2.6 Figures and Figure Legends	34
2.7 References	40
Chapter 3 IFNγ Inhibits HDAC1 and Induces Expression of Bmf to Reduce Allergen-Induced Mucous Cell Metaplasia	43
3.1 Abstract	44
3.2 Introduction	46
3.3 Experimental Procedures	49
3.4 Results	54
3.5 Discussion	58

3.6 Figures and Figure Legends	
3.7 References	68
Chapter 4 Discussion	71
4.1 The role of p53 in the regulation of Bmf expression by IFN γ and HDACis	73
4.2 The role of Bmf in IFNγ-induced cell death	76
4.3 Bmf expression in the lung	
4.4 The role of Bmf during resolution of MCM	
4.5 The role of Bmf in attachment of AECs to the basement membrane	82
4.6 The potential utility of HDACi therapy in treating chronic lung disease	83
4.9 References	88
Appendices	90
A. Expression of Bmf protein in lung tissue	
B. Growth factor withdrawal induces Bmf mRNA	
C. Cytochalasin D treatment changes Bmf mRNA expression	
D. $bmf^{\prime-}$ and $bmf^{+\prime+}$ MAECs grown in attachment-poor conditions	97
E. Expression of Bmf in AALEB cells	99
F. Lymph node cell numbers in allergen exposed <i>bmf^{-/-}</i> and <i>bmf^{+/+}</i> mice	101

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Model of how Bmf responds to apoptotic stimuli	18
Figure 2-1 IFN γ down regulates Bmf expression	34
Figure 2-2 Bmf expression is suppressed by p53	35
Figure 2-3 p53 suppresses HDACi-induced increase in Bmf mRNA and protein levels.	36
Figure 2-4 IFN-γ induces Bmf mRNA and protein expression in p53-deficient MAECs.	37
Figure 2-5 p53 is enriched in the nucleus and interacts with the Bmf promoter	38
Figure 2-6 IFNγ deacetylates p53	39
Figure 3-1 Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) induce Bmf expression through increasing histone acetylation and displacement of HDAC1	64
Figure 3-2 Bmf causes apoptosis	65
Figure 3-3 IFN γ -induced cell death is reduced in Bmf-deficient MAECs	66
Figure 3-4 Bmf is important during the resolution of MCM	67
Figure 4-1 Model for Regulation of Bmf mRNA by $p53$ in response to IFN γ	85
Figure 4-2 The cell-type specific effect that Bmf may have in the epithelium	86
Figure 4-3 The regulation of Bmf in response to apopotic stimuli in AECs	87
Figure Appendix A Expression of Bmf protein in lung tissue	92
Figure Appendix B Growth factor withdrawal induces Bmf mRNA	94
Figure Appendix C Cytochalasin D changes the expression of Bmf mRNA Levels	96
Figure Appendix D <i>bmf^{'-}</i> and <i>bmf^{+/+}</i> MAECs grown in attachment poor conditions	98
Figure Appendix E Adenoviral overexpression of Bmf in AALEB cells	100

Figure Appendix F Lymph node cell numbers in allergen exposed $bmf^{/-}$ 102 and $bmf^{+/+}$ mice.

List Of Abbreviations

Ad-Bmf	Adenoviral overexpression system for Bmf
AEC	Airway epithelial cell
Bad	Bcl-2 associated death promotor
Bak	Bcl-2 agonist killer 1
Bax	Bcl-2 associated x protein
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma
Bcl- _{XL}	B-cell-2 related gene long isoform
BH	Bcl-2 homology
Bid	BH3-interacting-domain death agonist
Bik	Bcl-2 interacting killer
Bim	Bcl-2 interacting modulator of apoptosis
Bmf	Bcl-2 modifying factor
Caspase	Cysteine aspartyl-specific proteases
CCSP	Clara cell secretory protein
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
DLC	Dynein light chain
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DNA	DeoxyRibonucleic acid
DRB	5,6-dichloro-1-β-D-ribobenzimidazole
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
HAEC	Human airway epithelial cell
HAT	Histone acetyltransferase
HDAC	Histone deactylase
HDAC2	Histone deacetylase 2
HDACis	Histone deactylase inhibitors
Hrk	Harakari
IFNγ	Interferon-gamma
LCM	Laser capture microdissection
MAEC	Mouse airway epithelial cell
Mcl-1	Myeloid cell leukemia sequence-1
MCM	Mucous cell metaplasia
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
OMM	Outer mitochondrial membrane
PI	Propidium Iodide
PRD	Proline rich domain
Puma	p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer
SAHA	Suberoylanilidehydroximic acid
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
UV	Ultraviolet

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Mechanisms involved in apoptotic cell death

The Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death has described four modalities of cell death: apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy, and cornification ¹. They are all forms of programmed cell death because they are regulated at the genetic and cellular level. Another important modality is senescence, a state in which growth and proliferation are arrested. In vivo studies report that senescence may be important for tumor suppression ². Apoptosis is a process by which tissues remove unwanted or damaged cells. This type of cell death is an important part of healthy tissue homeostasis and mammalian development, but when dysregulated can result in disease, such as cancer and autoimmunity ³. Two well-characterized pathways mediate apoptosis: the extrinsic and the intrinsic. In either case, caspase proteases are ultimately responsible for killing the cell. Apoptosis manifests as cellular blebbing and shrinkage, DNA fragmentation, or changes in the plasma membrane ⁴.

Extrinsic cell death otherwise known as the death receptor pathway is initiated when specific ligands bind to cell death receptors located on the cell surface. These receptors belong to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family and include Fas receptor and TNF receptor 1 (TNFR-1). This interaction activates initiator caspase-8 and -10, which in turn activate the appropriate effector caspases 5 .

The intrinsic cell death pathway or mitochondrial death pathway is caused by various cellular stressors, such as DNA damage, cytoskeletal damage, loss of adhesion, growth factor withdrawal, macromolecular synthesis inhibition, and others ⁶. Complex interactions between the anti-apoptotic and the pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family of proteins regulate the integrity of the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM).

2

The permeabilization of the mitochondrial membrane is the initial step in this process, allowing for the release of several pro-apoptotic factors such as cytochrome c, second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases (Smac/Diablo), apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), endonuclease G, and HtrA2/omi⁷. Cytochrome c oligomerizes with adaptor protein (Apaf-1), and forms a scaffold called the apoptosome complex. The apoptosome binds and activates pro-caspase-9, activating executioner caspases-3 and -7, and killing the cell ^{4, 7, 8}.

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) can induce apoptosis as a way to protect from stresses, such as unfolded protein response (UPR) characterized by the accumulation and aggregation of proteins in the ER lumen or inhibition of protein transport from the ER to the Golgi. An early part of the ER-induced apoptotic response is the release of calcium into the cytosol. Although initiated by the ER, this type of apoptosis is dependent on the mitochondria and members of the Bcl-2 family of proteins. Health conditions such as ischemia, viral infections, and neurodegenerative diseases are associated with a reduction in cell number caused by ER stress-induced apoptosis ⁹.

1.2 Regulation of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 family

The Bcl-2 family of proteins consists of both anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic members. These proteins share conserved α -helical regions called Bcl-2 homology (BH) regions ¹⁰. Structurally, these proteins are categorized as folded globular proteins and intrinsically unstructured proteins ⁴.

The first subgroup consists of five anti-apoptotic proteins with all four BH regions, which are B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), Bcl-2-related gene long isoform (Bcl-x_L), B-cell-2-like 2 (Bcl-w), myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1 (Mcl-1), and Bcl-2-related

gene A1 (A1). All of these anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins are anchored in the OMM or in the ER membrane, or are found in the cytoplasm. These proteins protect from cell death by inhibiting the function of pro-apoptotic proteins 1,4 .

Bcl-2 antagonist killer 1 (Bak) and Bcl-2-associated x protein (Bax) are proapoptotic and referred to as effector proteins. They possess homology domains BH1-BH3, although a BH4 motif has recently been reported ¹¹. Upon activation of Bax and Bak, they homo-oligomerize and insert into the pores of the OMM causing mitochondrial membrane permeabilization, the essential initiation step for apoptosis. Bax and Bak are found on both the mitochondrial and ER membranes ^{1,4} and are central in the cell death pathway because deletion of both genes renders cells resistant to death induced by ER stressors and DNA damage ¹².

Members of the third subgroup of the Bcl-2 family are also pro-apoptotic but contain only one homology region and are therefore called the BH3 domain-only proteins. Eleven BH3 domain-only proteins have been identified⁷, some of which include BH3-interacting-domain death agonist (Bid), Bcl-2-associated death promoter (Bad), Noxa or PMAIp1, Bcl-2 interacting killer (Bik), Bcl-2-modifying factor (Bmf), Harakari (Hrk), p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis (Puma), and Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death (Bim) ^{1, 4}. The BH3-only proteins are regarded as sentinels, responding to stress signals and developmental cues ⁷. A conserved leucine residue within the BH3 domain, when mutated, renders these proteins unable to interact with the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members ^{13, 14}.

Two models have been proposed to categorize the function of the Bcl-2 family members: the indirect activation model and the direct activation model⁷. Indirect

4

activation implies that an anti-apoptotic protein sequesters Bax and Bak to block their pro-apoptotic effects. An apoptotic stimulus activates a BH3 domain-only protein, which binds to the hydrophobic cleft of the anti-apoptotic protein, releasing Bax and Bak to kill the cell ¹. Direct activation implies that Bax and Bak are activated directly by binding to BH3 domain-only proteins. Within this model, the BH3-only proteins are subdivided into two groups: direct activators and sensitizers/de-repressors. Bim and Bid are considered direct activators, while Bad, Bik, Bmf, Hrk, Noxa, and Puma are sensitizers/de-repressors ^{1, 4}. These sensitizers bind and inactivate an anti-apoptotic protein and thereby unleash the pro-apoptotic potential of a direct activator. Similarly, according to the derepression theory, the activator remains sequestered or bound by the anti-apoptotic protein and is released only after an apoptotic stimuli causes the sensitizer protein to compete for the binding site that the activator occupies, freeing the activator to bind and activate Bak and Bax, leading to cell death ^{1,4}.

In addition to the apoptotic signal causing specific BH3 only-domain proteins to be activated, cell type also dictates the function of the BH3 domain-only protein. For instance, the BH3 domain-only Bik is not important for cell death in hematopoietic cells ¹⁵; however, it is critical for IFNγ-induced cell death in AECs ¹⁶.

1.3 The BH3 domain-only protein Bmf

Bmf is an important mediator for a diverse group of cell death-causing stimuli including detachment- (anoikis), arsenic trioxide-, TNF α -, TGF β -, and HDACi-induced cell death ¹⁷⁻²¹. Bmf sensitizes mammary epithelial cells to anoikis, but cannot initiate cell death on its own ²⁰. The gene for Bmf is located on chromosome 15q14, which is also the site of a tumor suppressor gene thought to be involved in metastasis ²². Because

anoikis may inhibit metastatic tumor growth²³, Bmf is believed to be involved in metastatic cancers. Studies demonstrating that Bmf may function as a mammary epithelial tumor suppressor include findings that show the down-regulation of Bmf suppresses anoikis and luminal cell death, promoting anchorage independent growth. Bmf is also said to be a target for a proliferative oncogene, HPV16E7¹⁰.

Bmf possesses a conserved sequence motif that binds to the dynein light chain (DLC), a part of the myosin V motor complex in the cytoskeleton. In response to particular stresses, Bmf detaches and translocates to the mitochondria (Figure 1-1) where it interacts with Bcl-2¹⁰. Cytosolic translocation of Bmf is also observed by MEK inhibition that induces cell death in melanoma cells. However, in MEK-inhibition-resistant melanoma cells Bmf remains tethered to the cytoskeleton, and mutation of the region that tethers Bmf to the cytoskeleton increases the killing potential of Bmf ²⁴. *In vitro*, biochemical assays in HEK293 cells demonstrate that apoptotic activity of Bmf is mediated by JNK phosphorylation at Ser ⁷⁴ for Bmf ^{25, 26}. Although, *in vivo* experiments in mice with knock-in mutations disrupting this phosphorylation site demonstrate that phosphorylation is not essential for normal Bmf activity ²⁶.

Within the hematopoietic compartment Bmf is important for B cell homeostasis. Bmf-deficient mice exhibit B-cell hyperplasia as well as an increased sensitivity to γ -radiation-induced B-cell lymphoma²⁷. In addition, Bmf prohibits C-Myc- driven B cell lymphomagenesis, and the loss of Bmf in transgenic Eµ–myc/*bmf*^{-/-} mice results in tumor formation because of the accumulation of preneoplastic pre-B and immature IgM⁺ B cells in the bone marrow of these mice²¹. We and others have observed that Bmf is regulated at the transcriptional level in various cell types^{19, 20, 27}, but expression is also regulated post-transcriptionally through microRNAs and post-translational modifications ^{10, 28, 29}. *In vitro* experiments in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells demonstrated that the Bmf gene is alternatively spliced and produces three isoforms: Bmf, Bmf II, and Bmf III. Bmf is the only isoform possessing a BH3 domain, while all three have a DLC- binding domain ¹⁸.

In cancer cell lines, transcription of Bmf is regulated by the chromatin remodeling enzymes histone deacetylases (HDACs) and histone acetyltransferases (HATs)¹⁹. HDACs fall into three classes, I, II, and III, and are important for cellular regulation through the transcriptional control of genes³⁰. HDACs catalyze the removal of acetyl groups from the amino-terminal residues of histones causing chromatin condensation, which shuts off transcription; HATs increase transcription through the transfer of acetyl groups to histones and relaxing the chromatin. Therefore, inhibiting HDAC activity increases transcription. Bmf is critical for cell death caused by the HDAC inhibitors (HDACis) FK228 and CBHA in cancer cell lines¹⁹ and by SAHA (suberoylanilidehydroximic acid) in thymocytes and pre-B cells. However, Bmf does not mediate TSA or CBHA-induced cell death in T or pre-B cells²⁷. The present studies

elucidate the role of HDACis in regulating Bmf expression and mediating HDACiinduced cell death in AECs.

1.4 Regulation of airway epithelial cell number in asthma

The prevalence of allergen-induced asthma is dramatically increasing in children and adults worldwide ³¹. Cytokines that are important in the allergen-specific inflammatory response in asthma are produced by Th2 helper cells and include IL-4, IL- 5, IL-9, and IL-13. IL-2 and IFNγ are produced by Th1 helper cells ³². Il-13 induces the differentiation of AECs into mucous-secreting cells, termed MCM, thereby increasing the mucus content in the airway epithelium and causing obstruction of the airways ^{33, 34}. In addition to MCM, patients with asthma have a fragile airway epithelium, in which the epithelial cells are more susceptible to shedding ³⁵. In AECs obtained by bronchial brushing, we found that Bmf mRNA is significantly induced in patients with asthma compared to non-diseased controls (unpublished data). In the present studies, we used an animal model of asthma to study Th2 cytokine-induced changes in epithelial cell numbers. Mice are sensitized with alum/OVA and exposed to ovalbumin aerosols to induce an allergic Th2 response ³¹. This exposure causes airway epithelial cell hyperplasia and MCM in C57BL/6 mice ^{36, 37}. When mice are repeatedly exposed to allergen for prolonged periods, MCM is reduced, and this reduction involves cell death of epithelial cells. The resolution of these hyperplastic cells appears to involve detachment of the airway cells from the basement membrane.

1.5 The role of IFN_γ in the resolution of MCM

Studies show that instillation of IFN γ causes an accelerated resolution of allergeninduced MCM. When IFN $\gamma^{-/-}$ and Stat1^{-/-} mice are sensitized and exposed to allergen for prolonged periods, MCM is not resolved. This demonstrates that the cytokine IFN γ through Stat 1 activation is a key mediator in the reduction of allergen-induced MCM by inducing apoptosis ^{16, 37}.

IFN γ is the only cytokine belonging to the Type II interferon family and is secreted by natural killer cells and T lymphocytes in response to specific antigens and mitogens ³⁸. IFN γ binds to IFN γ -R1, inducing the Jak-Stat-signaling pathway ³⁹. Cell

death is induced by IFNy in many different cell lines, including colon adenocarcinoma cells, A549 lung epithelial cells, primary human keratinocytes, HeLa cells, breast tumor cells, fibroblasts, and AECs³⁷. The IFN_γ-induced apoptotic pathway varies among cell types; the extrinsic pathway is the pathway for apoptosis in erythrocytes, keratinocytes, and T-lymphocytes ^{39, 40}. However, in AECs IFN_γ induces cell death ³⁷ by involving certain members of the Bcl2 family, but mitochondrial cytochrome c release was not detected ⁴¹. This type of cell death is accompanied by changes at the ER; IFNy causes translocation of the effector protein Bax to the ER causing ER dilation and reduction of calcium stores⁴¹. Recent work has shown that pro-apoptotic BH3 domain-only Bik is a critical mediator of IFNy-induced AEC death in a STAT1 dependent manner. In vivo studies demonstrating that allergen-induced AEC hyperplasia is not resolved in Bikdeficient mice during prolonged exposure to allergen ¹⁶ confirms the importance of Bik in this resolution process. The anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 is also important for resolution of hyperplastic as well as metaplastic mucous cells ^{36, 42, 43}. The present studies investigated the role of Bmf in regulating AEC numbers.

1.6 p53 and apoptosis

Mutations in the tumor suppressor protein 53 (p53) have been implicated in half of all human cancers suggesting that this protein plays a major role in cellular homeostasis ⁴⁴. In the nucleus, p53 is responsible for regulating hundreds of genes involved in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, preventing apoptosis, senescence, DNA repair, metabolism, and autophagy^{44, 45}, and is therefore a critical component of the cellular response to stress, including DNA damage and the UPR. In the cytosol, p53 triggers mitochondrial membrane permeabilization by binding and activating Bax or inhibiting Bcl-2 and Bcl-x_L⁶. p53 is regulated through MDM2-mediated ubiquitination followed by proteosomal degradation. Post-translational modifications including phosphorylation, methylation, and acetylation also regulate the function of p53 ⁴⁴. Biochemical and cell culture studies have shown that 36 different amino acids can undergo modifications in response to cellular stresses ⁴⁴. Because p53 is central in cell death processes ⁴⁶, we examined its role in regulating Bmf during the cell death process of AECs.

1.7 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that p53 suppresses IFN_γ-induced Bmf expression, and that Bmf is critical for both IFN_γ- and HDACi-induced cell death in airway epithelial cells.

Our specific aims are:

- **Ο** To investigate the regulation of Bmf by IFNγ and the suppressive activity of p53.
- To investigate the regulation and role of Bmf in AECs in response to inhibition of HDAC.
- **Ο** To investigate whether Bmf is necessary for the IFNγ-induced resolution of AECs during prolonged exposure of mice to allergen.

1.8 Model



Figure 1-1. Model demonstrating how Bmf responds to apoptotic stimuli Puthalakath et al. 1) Under normal conditions Bmf resides in the actin cytoskeleton attached to the dynein light chain. 2) In response to apoptotic stimuli such as UV exposure, Bmf translocates from the cytoskeleton to the mitochondria and causes cell death.

1.9 REFERENCES

1. Ghiotto F, Fais F, Bruno S. BH3-only proteins: the death-puppeteer's wires. Cytometry A 2010;77:11-21.

2. Braig M, Lee S, Loddenkemper C, et al. Oncogene-induced senescence as an initial barrier in lymphoma development. Nature 2005;436:660-5.

3. Thompson TA, Lewis JM, Dejneka NS, Severs WB, Polavarapu R, Billingsley ML. Induction of apoptosis by organotin compounds in vitro: neuronal protection with antisense oligonucleotides directed against stannin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1996;276:1201-16.

4. Chipuk JE, Moldoveanu T, Llambi F, Parsons MJ, Green DR. The BCL-2 family reunion. Mol Cell 2010;37:299-310.

5. Ashkenazi A. Targeting death and decoy receptors of the tumour-necrosis factor superfamily. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2:420-30.

6. Chipuk JE, Bouchier-Hayes L, Green DR. Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization during apoptosis: the innocent bystander scenario. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:1396-402.

7. Adams JM. Ways of dying: multiple pathways to apoptosis. Genes Dev 2003;17:2481-95.

8. Tesfaigzi Y. The role of apoptotic regulators in metaplastic mucous cells. Novartis Found Symp 2002;248:221-30; discussion 30-6, 77-82.

9. Oakes SA, Opferman JT, Pozzan T, Korsmeyer SJ, Scorrano L. Regulation of endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ dynamics by proapoptotic BCL-2 family members. Biochem Pharmacol 2003;66:1335-40.

10. Puthalakath H, Villunger A, O'Reilly LA, et al. Bmf: a proapoptotic BH3-only protein regulated by interaction with the myosin V actin motor complex, activated by anoikis. Science 2001;293:1829-32.

11. Kvansakul M, Yang H, Fairlie WD, et al. Vaccinia virus anti-apoptotic F1L is a novel Bcl-2-like domain-swapped dimer that binds a highly selective subset of BH3-containing death ligands. Cell Death Differ 2008;15:1564-71.

12. Lindsten T, Thompson CB. Cell death in the absence of Bax and Bak. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:1272-6.

13. Mathai JP, Germain M, Marcellus RC, Shore GC. Induction and endoplasmic reticulum location of BIK/NBK in response to apoptotic signaling by E1A and p53. Oncogene 2002;21:2534-44.

14. Yamaguchi H, Wang HG. Bcl-XL protects BimEL-induced Bax conformational change and cytochrome C release independent of interacting with Bax or BimEL. J Biol Chem 2002;277:41604-12.

15. Coultas L, Bouillet P, Stanley EG, Brodnicki TC, Adams JM, Strasser A. Proapoptotic BH3-only Bcl-2 family member Bik/Blk/Nbk is expressed in hemopoietic and endothelial cells but is redundant for their programmed death. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:1570-81.

16. Mebratu YA, Dickey BF, Evans C, Tesfaigzi Y. The BH3-only protein Bik/Blk/Nbk inhibits nuclear translocation of activated ERK1/2 to mediate IFNgamma-induced cell death. J Cell Biol 2008;183:429-39.

 Hitomi J, Christofferson DE, Ng A, et al. Identification of a molecular signaling network that regulates a cellular necrotic cell death pathway. Cell 2008;135:1311-23.
 AA Morales AO, F Celsing, A Osterborg, M Jondal, and LM Osorio. Expression and transcriptional regulation of functionally distinct Bmf isoforms in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leukemia 2004;18:41-7.

19. Zhang Y, Adachi M, Kawamura R, Imai K. Bmf is a possible mediator in histone deacetylase inhibitors FK228 and CBHA-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:129-40.

20. Schmelzle T, Mailleux AA, Overholtzer M, et al. Functional role and oncogeneregulated expression of the BH3-only factor Bmf in mammary epithelial anoikis and morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3787-92.

21. Frenzel A, Labi V, Chmelewskij W, et al. Suppression of B-cell lymphomagenesis by the BH3-only proteins Bmf and Bad. Blood 2010;115:995-1005.

22. Ruoslahti E, Reed JC. Anchorage dependence, integrins, and apoptosis. Cell 1994;77:477-8.

23. Wick W, Petersen I, Schmutzler RK, et al. Evidence for a novel tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 15 associated with progression to a metastatic stage in breast cancer. Oncogene 1996;12:973-8.

24. VanBrocklin MW, Verhaegen M, Soengas MS, Holmen SL. Mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition induces translocation of Bmf to promote apoptosis in melanoma. Cancer Res 2009;69:1985-94.

25. Lei K, Davis RJ. JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:2432-7.
26. Hubner A, Cavanagh-Kyros J, Rincon M, Flavell RA, Davis RJ. Functional cooperation of the proapoptotic Bcl2 family proteins Bmf and Bim in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 2010;30:98-105.

27. Verna L, Miriam Erlacher, Stephan Kiessling, Claudia Manzl, Anna Frenzel, Lorraine O'Reilly, Andreas Strasser, and Andreas Villunger. Loss of the BH3-only protein Bmf impairs B cell homeostasis and accelerates gamma irradiation-induced thymic lymphoma development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2007;1658:15.
28. Gramantieri L, Fornari F, Ferracin M, et al. MicroRNA-221 targets Bmf in hepatocellular carcinoma and correlates with tumor multifocality. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:5073-81.

29. Xia HF, He TZ, Liu CM, et al. MiR-125b expression affects the proliferation and apoptosis of human glioma cells by targeting Bmf. Cell Physiol Biochem 2009;23:347-58.

30. Khan N, Jeffers M, Kumar S, et al. Determination of the class and isoform selectivity of small-molecule histone deacetylase inhibitors. Biochem J 2008;409:581-9.
31. Shin YS, Takeda K, Gelfand EW. Understanding asthma using animal models. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2009;1:10-8.

32. Barnes PJ. Th2 cytokines and asthma: an introduction. Respir Res 2001;2:64-5.
33. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, et al. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998;282:2258-61.

34. Longphre M, Li D, Gallup M, et al. Allergen-induced IL-9 directly stimulates mucin transcription in respiratory epithelial cells. J Clin Invest 1999;104:1375-82.

35. Trautmann A, Kruger K, Akdis M, et al. Apoptosis and loss of adhesion of bronchial epithelial cells in asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2005;138:142-50.

36. Harris JF, Fischer MJ, Hotchkiss JR, et al. Bcl-2 sustains increased mucous and epithelial cell numbers in metaplastic airway epithelium. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005;171:764-72.

37. Shi ZO, Fischer MJ, De Sanctis GT, Schuyler MR, Tesfaigzi Y. IFN-gamma, but not Fas, mediates reduction of allergen-induced mucous cell metaplasia by inducing apoptosis. J Immunol 2002;168:4764-71.

38. Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol 2004;75:163-89.

39. Dai C, Krantz SB. Interferon gamma induces upregulation and activation of caspases 1, 3, and 8 to produce apoptosis in human erythroid progenitor cells. Blood 1999;93:3309-16.

40. Arnold R, Seifert M, Asadullah K, Volk HD. Crosstalk between keratinocytes and T lymphocytes via Fas/Fas ligand interaction: modulation by cytokines. J Immunol 1999;162:7140-7.

41. Stout BA, Melendez K, Seagrave J, et al. STAT1 activation causes translocation of Bax to the endoplasmic reticulum during the resolution of airway mucous cell hyperplasia by IFN-gamma. J Immunol 2007;178:8107-16.

42. Tesfaigzi J, Hotchkiss JA, Harkema JR. Expression of the Bcl-2 protein in nasal epithelia of F344/N rats during mucous cell metaplasia and remodeling. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998;18:794-9.

43. Tesfaigzi Y, Fischer MJ, Martin AJ, Seagrave J. Bcl-2 in LPS- and allergen-induced hyperplastic mucous cells in airway epithelia of Brown Norway rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2000;279:L1210-7.

44. Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell 2009;137:609-22.

45. Janicke RU, Sohn D, Schulze-Osthoff K. The dark side of a tumor suppressor: antiapoptotic p53. Cell Death Differ 2008;15:959-76.

46. Chiou SK, Rao L, White E. Bcl-2 blocks p53-dependent apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 1994;14:2556-63.

Chapter 2

IFNy Deacetylates p53 to Suppress Bmf Expression

¹Amelia Unione, ¹Hitendra Chand, ¹Ivan Leyva-Baca, ²Yuting Lin, ²Jialing Xiang, and ¹Yohannes Tesfaigzi

From¹COPD Program, Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute, Ridgecrest Dr., Albuquerque, NM 87108, USA; ²Illinois Institute of Technology, South Dearborn St., Chicago, IL 60616, USA

Running Title: IFNy Deacetylates p53 and Suppresses Bmf

Corresponding Author: Yohannes Tesfaigzi 2425 Ridgecrest Dr. SE Albuquerque, NM 87108 Tel: (505) 348-9495 Fax: (505) 348-8567 E-mail: <u>ytesfaig@lrri.org</u>

These studies were supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (HL68111 and ES015482) and by the Flight Attendant Medical Research Institute (FAMRI).

2.1 Abstract

IFNy induces cell death not only in various cancer cells but also in primary keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and airway epithelial cells (AECs). Therefore, it has been used for the treatment of various cancers and our studies show that IFN γ reduces airway epithelial cell hyperplasia during prolonged exposure of mice to allergen. However, the effect of IFNy on p53, a major tumor suppressor gene, has not been studied. When screening for Bcl-2 family of proteins involved in the IFN γ -induced cell death pathway we found that IFN γ , in a p53-dependent manner, downregulated expression of the BH3 domain-only protein, Bmf, in human (HAECs) and mouse (MAECs) primary airway epithelial cells. p53 also suppressed Bmf expression in response to other cell death stimulating agents including UV light and histone deacetylase inhibitors. IFNy did not affect Bmf mRNA half-life but increased nuclear p53 levels and increased the interaction of p53 with the Bmf promoter. IFNy suppressed Bmf expression also in MAECs derived from mice that lack the proline-rich domain of p53, and increasing p53 levels with nutlin 3 failed to modify the suppressive effect of IFNy or UV light. Immunoprecipitation with p53 antibodies showed that an increased interaction of HDAC1 with p53 in IFN γ -treated cells was accompanied by a reduction in the acetylated form of p53. Collectively, these studies show that IFNy treatment increases nuclear p53 accumulation, interaction of p53 with HDAC1, and p53 deacetylation to suppress Bmf expression.

2.2 Introduction

IFN γ induces apoptosis in a variety of cell types, including carcinoma^{1,2} and primary keratinocytes ³. IFN γ also induces cell death in AECs ⁴ to remove hyperplastic epithelial cells following inflammation-induced epithelial cell hyperplasia by activating STAT1⁵. This cell death pathway requires the BH3-only protein Bik⁶ and the translocation of Bax to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER)^{7, 8}. However, the effect of IFN γ on p53 has not been reported.

The Bcl-2 family of proteins is characterized by the Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains. The pro-survival proteins Bcl-2, Bclx_L, and Mcl-1 have four BH domains (BH1-4). The first group of pro-apoptotic proteins, Bax, Bak, and Bok are characterized by three (BH1-3), while the second group contains only the BH3 domain and, therefore, is also designated the BH3-only group of proteins⁹. One of the BH3-only proteins, Bmf, was first reported to cause cell death upon loss of cell attachment by being released from the DLC and inhibiting the function of the pro-survival $Bcl-2^{10}$. However, this was not confirmed in Bmf-deficient mice¹¹ that display defects in uterovaginal development¹². The expression of Bmf induced during formation of the lumen in mammary epithelial acinar structures and the involution of the mouse mammary gland ¹³. Bmf was identified as a requirement for necroptosis induced by either zVAD.fmk or TNF α in L929 cells ¹⁴ and for HDAC inhibitor-induced apoptosis ¹³. Because we have observed that resolution of airway epithelial cells may involve anoikis, and IFNy causes resolution of epithelial cell hyperplasia $^{7, 4}$ we investigated the effect of IFN γ on Bmf expression in airway epithelial cells.

While the function of Bmf has been studied more extensively, understanding is lacking on how its expression is regulated. Bmf expression is increased 500-fold during maturation of oligodendroglial progenitor cells to mature oligodendrocytes¹⁵. Bmf expression is induced by arsenic trioxide in multiple myeloma cells and mediates cell death ¹⁶. The mechanism involved in Bmf expression in oligodendrocyte maturation, by arsenic trioxide, or mammary cells was not reported. However, histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) preferentially induce Bmf expression in a broad range of cancer cells by hyperacetylating histories H3 and H4 at the Bmf promoter region¹⁷. In addition, loss of Bmf protein renders resistance to lymphocytes against glucocorticoid- or HDAC inhibitor-induced cell death¹¹. While the designation HDACs is based on these proteins being initially known to primarily target histones, it is now clear that many other nonhistone proteins are substrates for the various HDACs. p53 was the first non-histone protein known to be regulated by acetylation and deacetylation $^{18, 19}$. In the present study, we found that in airway epithelial cells IFNy causes deacetylation and nuclear accumulation of p53 to promote interaction with the Bmf promoter and suppress expression.

2.3 Experimental Procedures

Animals

Pathogen-free *STATI*^{-/-}, *p53*^{+/-} mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME), *bik*^{-/-} mice were made available by Dr. Andreas Strasser (Walter and Eliza Hall Institute) and mice with modified proline-rich domain p53^{ΔP}, and p53^{AXXA} were from Dr. Geoffrey M. Wahl (The Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, CA). These mice along with the wild-type littermates were bred at the Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute (LRRI) under specific pathogen-free conditions and genotyped as described previously ¹¹. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute, a facility approved by the Association for the Assessment and Accreditation for Laboratory Animal Care International.

Cell Culture

The preparation of MAECs was carried out as described ²⁰. The immortalized human airway epithelial cells, AALEB cells ⁸, and HAECs (Clontech, Walkersville, MD) were maintained in bronchial epithelial growth medium (BEGM, Lonza, Walkersville, MD)

RNA Extraction and quantitative RT-PCR

Extraction of RNA from cell pellets was carried out using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and concentrations were determined using the Thermo Scientific Nanodrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). The primer/probe sets for Bmf, CDKN1B, and 18s were obtained from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA). Target mRNAs were amplified by quantitative real-time PCR in 20 μ l reactions on the ABIPRISM 7900HT Real-Time PCR System using the One-Step RT-PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). Relative quantities from duplicate amplifications were calculated by normalizing averaged C_T values to CDKN1B and/or 18s to obtain Δ Ct, and the relative standard curve method was used for determining the fold change as described²¹.

Western Blot Analysis

Preparation of protein lysates and cytosolic and nuclear fractions were prepared ⁶ and analyzed by Western blotting as described ⁸. We used the rat anti-Bmf monoclonal antibody, a gift from Dr. Andreas Strasser (the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Melbourne, Australia) at 2 μg/ml, the rabbit anti-p53 polyclonal antibody (FL-393, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., CA) or acetyl-p53 (Lys 382) (Cell Signaling Inc., Boston, MA) at a 1:1000 dilution. Mouse actin polycolonal antibody was used at 1:5000 dilution (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.) and rabbit anti-lamin polyclonal antibody was used at 1:1000 dilution (#2032 Cell Signaling, Inc. Boston, MA), and rabbit anti-HDAC1 polyclonal antibody was used at 1:1000 dilution (Millipore, Billerica, MA). Goat anti-rat or goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies were used for visualizing proteins with chemiluminescence (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, Massachusetts) using the FujiFilm Image Reader LAS-4000 (Valhalla, NY).

Immunofluorescent Imaging and Analysis

For immunofluorescent staining AALEB cells were grown on Lab-Tek-II 8chamber slides (Nalge Nunc International, Rochester, NY) and treated with 50 ng/ml of IFNγ or left untreated. Cells were fixed using 3% paraformaldehyde with 3% sucrose in

20

PBS and permeabilized using 0.2% Triton X-100 with 0.2% Saponin in a blocking solution containing 3% IgG-free BSA, 1% gelatin, and 2% normal donkey serum. The cells were then probed with anti-p53 (#sc126, clone DO1, Santa Cruz Biotech, CA), antiacetyl-p53 (Lys382) (#2525, Cell Signaling, Inc. Boston, MA) or isotype controls at 1:100 dilution. The immunolabeled cells were detected using $F(ab)_2$ -fragments of respective secondary antibodies conjugated to DylightTM-649 (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA) at 1:1000 dilution and mounted with Fluormount-G^{TM 22-20}. (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, AL) containing 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for nuclear staining. Fluorescently labeled cells were analyzed as described⁸ using the Axioplan 2 imaging system (Carl Zeiss Microimaging, Inc., Thornwood, NY) equipped with a ORCA-ER CCD camera (Hamamatsu Photonics, Japan) coupled with a Lambda DG-4 wavelength switch (Sutter Instrument, Novato, CA) and acquisition software SlidebookTM 5 (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc., Denver, CO). p53-positive and acetyl-p53-positve cells were quantified by counting at least 400 cells/well with $n \ge 4$ for each treatment by a person unaware of the treatment groups.

Adenoviral Overexpression

Adenovirus expression vectors for p53 were developed by cloning p53 cDNA into the shuttle vector. Shuttle CMV_p53 was packaged into virus-producing cells, and adenovirus particles were harvested as described ²³.

Bmf mRNA Half-life

Cells were treated with the RNA polymerase inhibitor 5,6-dichloro-1-beta-Dribobenzimidazole (DRB) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) at a final concentration of 50 ng/ml for SAOS-2, Calu-3, A549, and Calu6, and at 100ng/ml for AALEBs to stop RNA polymerase activity. The relative mRNA abundance was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, and the mRNA half life was calculated using Greenberg formula²⁴.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

After treating with 50 ng/ml hrIFNγ for 48 h, cells were fixed with 1% formaldehyde; the reaction was quenched using 1.25 M glycine and scraped into cold PBS-containing protease inhibitors. Chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed using the MAGNA0002 Magna ChIP G kit (Millipore, Billerica, MA) as described by the manufacturer. Sonicated nuclear fractions were incubated with mouse IgG1 monoclonal antibody to p53 (Santa Cruz sc-98 Pab1801), rabbit polyclonal antibody to HDAC1 (06-720 Millipore), rabbit polyclonal antibody to acetyl H4 (06-598 Millipore), rabbit polyclonal antibody to acetyl H3 (06-599B Millipore), mouse IgG1, or rabbit as control (CBL600 Millipore). DNA identification was confirmed with PCR using the following primers specific for the Bmf promoter at region -560 5'ACCTAAGGGCTCCCCTGGA-3', 5'-GCAGGTCGGAAGAAAACTGCAGC-3', and region -97 5'-TTGGCGCTTCACTCGCCATT-3', 5'-ATCCCGCAAACAGCTGAT-3'.

Immunoprecipitation

Cells were treated with IFNγ for 48 h, fixed, rinsed twice with cold PBS, and scraped in cold PBS plus protease inhibitors. Immunoprecipitation was performed using the Pierce Crosslink IP Kit (26147) as described by the manufacturer. Immunoprecipitated proteins from nuclear extracts were analyzed by Western blotting for HDAC1, anti-p53 (FL-393 Santa Cruz), and acetyl-p53 (Lys382) (#2525 Cell Signaling, Inc., Boston, MA).

Statistical Analysis

Fold changes or scanned density values were averaged and compared for significance between groups using *Student's t*-test. Data were analyzed using Prism statistical analysis software, and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.4 Results

Our previous studies demonstrate that physiological relevant levels of IFN γ induce cell death in primary normal human airway epithelial cells (HAECs), murine airway epithelial cells (MAECs), and AALEB cells, a cell line derived from HAECs^{7,8}. IFN γ -induced cell death is mediated by STAT1-dependent Bik expression ⁶. While screening for the effect of IFN γ on the expression of BH3-only proteins, we found that IFN γ reduced Bmf mRNA levels in AALEB cells by 5-fold over 24 h (Figure 2-1A), and this reduction was replicated in both HAECs (Figure 2-1B) and MAECs (Figure 2-1C). Western blot analysis also showed that Bmf protein is reduced at 48 h of IFN γ treatment in MAECs; this protein is 30 kDa in size and represents likely the Bmf II ²⁵ (Figure 2-1D). Treatment of *STAT1*^{-/-} (Figure 2-1E), *bik*^{-/-} (Figure 2-1F), or wild-type MAECs with IFN γ also reduced Bmf mRNA levels suggesting that downregulation of Bmf was independent of IFN γ activating STAT1 or Bik expression.

To further investigate this unexpected finding, we explored the effect of IFNγ on Bmf mRNA levels in epithelial cell lines derived from various cancers as previous studies have described Bmf expression in cancer cell lines^{10, 13}. This analysis uncovered a striking correlation between basal Bmf mRNA expression levels and p53 status. The p53-deficient cell lines SOAS-2 and Calu-6 cells showed significantly higher Bmf mRNA levels compared to the p53-sufficient cells, A549, and AALEB cells (Figure 2-2A). The role of p53 in affecting Bmf expression was validated by expressing p53 in Calu-6 cells using an adenoviral overexpression system (Figure 2-2B). Interestingly, p53 expression alone was not sufficient; additional treatment with 10 mJ UV light was necessary for reducing Bmf levels, while the same treatment significantly increased Bmf
mRNA levels in cells infected with adenoviral GFP as control (Figure 2-2C). Identical results were obtained when p53 was expressed in Calu-6 cells using a lentiviral expression system after treatment with UV light (data not shown). Consistent with previous reports, exposure of MAECs to 10 mJ of UV light increased p53 levels (Figure 2-2D) and reduced Bmf mRNA levels to 50% of non-treated controls in both MAECs (Figure 2-2E) and AALEB cells (Figure 2-2F) 6 h after treatment.

Previous reports have established that HDAC1 suppresses Bmf expression by inhibiting the promoter activity ¹⁷. Therefore, we wanted to investigate whether HDACis affect Bmf expression in a p53-dependent manner. The HDACis, sodium butyrate, TSA, or MS-275 significantly increased Bmf mRNA levels in AALEB cells (Figure 2-3A), and TSA increased Bmf protein levels in MAECs (Figure 2-3B). While Bmf mRNA levels were increased by TSA in both $p53^{-/-}$ and $p53^{+/+}$ MAECs, Bmf mRNA expression was 2-fold higher in $p53^{-/-}$ compared to $p53^{+/+}$ MAECs (Figure 2-3C) suggesting that the inhibitory role of p53 may be independent of the regulation by HDACs.

These findings showed that IFN γ may affect p53 to cause the reduction of Bmf expression. Therefore, we investigated the effect of IFN γ on primary MAECs from $p53^{-/-}$ and $p53^{+/+}$ mice and found that Bmf mRNA levels were significantly increased by IFN γ in $p53^{-/-}$ MAECs (Figure 2-4A). Furthermore, Bmf protein was detected in IFN γ -treated $p53^{-/-}$ but not $p53^{+/+}$ MAECs (Figure 2-4B). Similarly, suppression of p53 levels in AALEB cells using shRNA resulted in IFN γ failing to suppress Bmf mRNA levels (data not shown).

Having established that p53 suppresses Bmf expression, we investigated the possibility that p53 may affect Bmf mRNA stability. The Bmf mRNA has an unusually

long 4kb 3'UTR indicating that it may be a crucial factor in regulating expression levels. In general, 3'UTRs have conserved sequences that regulate mRNA stability ²⁶. For these studies, transcription was blocked with DRB, and cells were harvested at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, and 4 h with or without IFN γ treatment. On average, the half-life of Bmf mRNA in non-treated, p53-sufficient A549 and AALEB cells was 1.94 and 2.43, respectively, and in the p53–deficient Calu-6 and SAOS cells, 2.36 and 1.73, respectively. Bmf mRNA half-life in IFN γ -treated, p53-sufficient and p53-deficient cells was 1.5 and 1.8 h, respectively. These data suggest that p53 did not affect Bmf mRNA stability.

Because IFNy did not affect Bmf mRNA half-life, we next evaluated whether IFNy affects the interaction of p53 with the Bmf promoter. The -97 region was responsible for acetylation in cancer cell lines in response to HDACi treatment ¹⁷. Therefore, we selected the -97 region to test for p53 interaction. The -560 region was selected as an additional region assuming that there would be less acetylation activity than the -97 region yet strong HDAC1 interaction. ChIP assays showed that p53 interacted with the Bmf promoter only in IFNy-treated AALEB cells but not in nontreated controls (Figure 2-5A). This interaction was observed only for the region close to the transcriptional start site at -97, while no interaction was observed at -560. To further investigate the IFNγ-induced modification on p53, we analyzed the distribution of p53 in the cytosolic and nuclear fractions, and found that nuclear p53 levels were greater in IFNy-treated AALEB cells compared to non-treated controls (Figure 2-5B). Similarly, MAECs showed increased p53 levels in the IFNy-treated cells (data not shown). Increased nuclear localization of p53 in IFNy-treated cells was also observed by immunofluorescence (Figure 2-5C), thus confirming the findings by Western blotting.

Together, these studies showed that IFN γ treatment modified p53 causing nuclear accumulation of this protein.

In humans, the proline-rich domain of p53 (PRD) is defined by residues 58–98 that contains 15 prolines and five repeats of the amino acid motif PXXP (where P designates proline and X any amino acid). The histone acetyl transferase p300 binds to PXXP-containing peptides derived from the proline repeat domain, and the PXXP motif in p53 is required for p53 acetylation ²⁷. Therefore, we investigated whether this region plays a role in the IFN γ -induced Bmf suppression. In mice, this PRD consists of two PXXP motifs, and we obtained mice with a deletion of the PRD (p53^{AP}) or lacking the four critical proline residues at loci 79, 82, 84, and 87 that make up the tandem PXXP sites (p53^{AXXA}) ^{28, 29}. MAECs isolated from p53^{AP}, p53^{AXXA}, and wild-type littermates were treated with IFN γ and analyzed for Bmf levels, which were reduced in these cells as was observed in wild-type MAECs (Figure 2-5D) suggesting that this region is not crucial for the modification in p53 to be enriched in the nucleus.

The stability of p53 is regulated primarily by the E3 ubiquitin-ligase activity of Mdm2²⁸, and phosphorylation of p53 disrupts interactions between p53 and Mdm2 leading to p53 stabilization ³⁰. Nutlin-3, a synthetic cis-imidazoline anolog specifically blocks the interaction between p53 and Mdm2 by interacting with a large hydrophobic pocket in the Mdm2 protein which p53 occupies. This results in the stabilization of p53, enhancing p53 activity, such as induction of apoptosis and cell cycle arrest of cancer cells. Numerous studies showed that nutlin-3 is very specific for Mdm2; in addition, experiments using the enantiomer of nutlin 3 as a control determined that the enatiomer is 150 times less active and does not cause stabilization of p53 ³¹. Bmf mRNA levels were

induced in AALEB cells treated with nutlin-3 for 24 h compared to untreated cells (Figure 2-5E), or remained unchanged in the MAECs (data not shown). In a separate set of studies, AALEB cells were treated with nutlin, nutlin and IFN γ , and nutlin and UV light to examine whether nutlin treatment affects the suppression of Bmf mRNA when p53 was modified by these cell death-inducing stimuli. Interestingly, the disruption of p53 from Mdm2 by nutlin3 did not affect suppression of Bmf expression in response to IFN γ or UV light treatment (Figure 2-5F). These findings suggested that p53 must have been modified in a different manner from the disruption from Mdm2 interaction.

Several of our findings suggest that modification of p53 by IFN γ may involve acetylation. First, the effect of HDACis on Bmf expression is suppressed by p53 and second, Bmf promoter is known to interact with HDAC1¹⁷. Therefore, we performed immunoprecipitation assays using anti-p53 antibodies and analyzed the pull-down products for HDAC1 and total p53. HDAC1 levels were increased in pull-down products from IFN γ -treated cells compared to non-treated cells (Figure 2-6A) suggesting that IFN γ enhanced the p53/HDAC1 interaction. Because p53 was found to be complexed with a histone deacetylase we were interested in assessing the acetylation state of p53 after IFN γ treatment. Immunoblotting of the pull-down product using antibodies specific to K382p53 revealed that acetylated p53 levels were significantly reduced in IFN γ -treated compared to non-treated cells (Figure 2-6A). These results suggest that the IFN γ -induced interaction of HDAC1 and p53 may have resulted in the deactylation of p53. The fact that IFN γ treatment leads to deacetylation of p53 was also observed in MAECs as the cytosolic nuclear p53 showed reduced acetylation in IFN γ - compared to non-treated controls (Figure 2-6B). This finding was confirmed by immunostaining of IFNγ-treated MAECs and controls using antibodies specific to acetyl p53 (Figure 2-6C).

2.5 Discussion

The present studies show that IFN γ promotes p53/HDAC1 interaction, deacetylates p53, and enhances p53 to interact with the Bmf promoter and suppress expression. In addition, this suppressive effect of p53 on Bmf expression occurred when cells were exposed to other cell death-stimulating agents including UV light and HDACis.

Suppression of Bmf occurred within 6 h of treatment with UV light but 48 h after IFNy treatment. These findings suggest that the IFNy-induced deacetylation of p53 may be mediated by events triggered at later time points; however, to our knowledge, the fact that IFNy modifies p53 has previously not been reported. Both STAT1 and Bik or merely disruption of the p53-Mdm2 interaction with nutlin 3 32 were not sufficient to modify the reduction of Bmf expression. In addition, AECs with either deleted PRD or mutations of the proline residues within the PRD of p53 to alanines did not abrogate the IFNy-induced downregulation of Bmf demonstrating that the IFNy-induced deacetylation must occur at sites other than the proline-rich domain (PRD). Downregulation of Bmf by IFNy was also observed in NHBEs that were derived from 3 individuals each that had the Arg/Arg or the Pro/Pro p53 genotype at codon 72 within the PRD (data not shown) that corresponds to the mouse PXXP motif, further supporting the idea that the PRD is not involved in the IFN γ -induced modification of p53 and suppression of Bmf expression. In addition, merely increasing p53 expression using an adenoviral or lentiviral expression vectors was not sufficient but treatment with UV light of p53-expressing Calu-6 cells was

necessary to suppress Bmf levels. While p53 can be increased in level due to stabilization in response to the p53-Mdm2 feedback loop, our findings suggest that p53 must undergo posttranslational modifications acetylation/deacetylation to be activated ³³. The effects of IFNγ on signaling kinase ERK in AECs has been demonstrated ⁶. However, blocking the activation of ERK1/2 using UO126 did not affect IFNγ-induced deacetylation of p53 (data not shown). Therefore, the pathway by which IFNγ causes deacetylation and nuclear accumulation of p53 remains to be elucidated.

At least three independent pathways activate the p53 network. The first pathway is triggered by ionizing irradiation causing double strand breaks that is recognized by the Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), Chk2 pathway ³⁴, the p14^{ARF} pathway, and the ATR (ataxia telangiectasia related) and casein kinase II that involves kinases ³⁵. Many other genes have been reported to be suppressed by p53 including DNA topoisomerase II, cyclin B, Cdc2 ³⁶, MMP-1 and -13 ³⁷, presenilin-1 ³⁸, myc, and Map-4 ³⁹. In general, transcriptional activation requires p53 to bind a consensus sequence ⁴⁰; however, the repression mechanism by p53 is not well studied. For example, p53 directly binds to the Mad1L1 promoter, but no p53 consensus site was found ⁴¹. Similarly, we found that p53 interacts with the Bmf promoter when cells are treated with IFNγ, although a consensus-binding sequence for p53 was not found in the upstream region of the *bmf* gene. While DNA binding is required for p53 to suppress cdc2 ³⁶ or cdc20 ⁴², p53 can also suppress by interfering with transcriptional factors, which usually transactivate the genes ⁴³.

We found that HDACis consistently induced Bmf expression in primary human and mouse airway epithelial cells. However, extent of induction was suppressed in the presence of p53. These findings suggested that induction of Bmf is independently regulated by histone acetylation and by p53 deacetylation. The fact that p53 dampens HDACi-induced Bmf expression further supports our findings that deacetylated p53 interacts with the Bmf promoter to suppress its activity. Similar to our findings, the HDACis induce acetylation of histones H3 and H4 at the Bmf promoter region in various human cancer cell lines and HDAC1 expression reduces Bmf expression ¹⁷. The previous studies also showed that overexpression of histone acetyltransferase p300 mimics the effects of the HDAC inhibitors, suggesting that Bmf expression in cancer cells is primarily regulated by histone hyperacetylation ⁴⁴, and this approach was the basis to promote HDACis for cancer therapy. However, our findings that these agents also induce Bmf in primary airway epithelial cells may suggest side effects and that the use of these compounds for cancer therapy should be approached with caution.

Because IFNγ treatment or the presence/absence of p53 had no effect on Bmf mRNA half-life and results from ChIP assays showed that IFNγ modified the interaction of p53 with the Bmf promoter it is likely that p53 and HDAC1 affect promoter activity by affecting chromatin remodeling. Because HDAC1 associates with the Bmf promoter in an untreated condition ⁴⁴ and p53 deacetylation correlates with the increased interaction of p53 with HDAC1 we conclude that IFNγ treatment causes the deacetylation likely by promoting p53/HDAC1 interaction. While the modification of p53 by HDACis has been studied in lung cancer cells ¹⁸, the state of p53 acetylation in airway epithelial cells has not been studied. Interestingly, acetylated p53 was present in non-treated cells suggesting that acetylated p53 may be crucial for the regular proliferation of HAECs and MAECs.

IFNγ caused deacetylation and nuclear accumulation of p53 suggesting that acetylation may be involved in the proper transport of p53 out of the nucleus. When p53 is acetylated on the 8 lysine residues in the DNA binding and C-terminal regions the interaction with Mdm2 is prevented leading to stabilization and increase in p53 protein ³³. Marchenko et al. report that the classic importin- α/β pathway is responsible for import of only non-ubiquitinated p53 into the nucleus during the early stages of stress response such as DNA damage ⁴⁵. Future studies will investigate the lysine residues that are deacetylated by IFNγ and whether this modification minimizes the interaction of p53 with nuclear export proteins such as MDM2-mediated ubiquitination ⁴⁶ to increase nuclear p53 levels.

The fact that p53 mediates the IFNγ-induced Bmf suppression in HAECs and MAECs suggests that p53 is not involved in the IFNγ-induced cell death pathway. This hypothesis is supported by our previous studies demonstrating that IFNγ induces Bik expression in *p53*^{+/+} and *p53*^{-/-} MAECs and causes cell death in a p53-independent manner ⁶ and that p53 levels remain unaffected by IFNγ ⁸. Bmf (Bmf I) has a pro-apoptotic function, while Bmf II and Bmf III have functions contributing to survival and growth ²⁵. Western blot analysis showed that a 30kDA Bmf protein was reduced by IFNγ treatment that corresponds to the Bmf II, a protein that in contrast to the Bmf-I had no effect on apoptosis and instead increased colony formation ²⁵. Therefore, we conclude that IFNγ by suppressing the isoform that enhances colony formation enhances the effect of Bmf I to enhance the cell death pathway. Bmf I is a pro-apoptotic protein ^{13, 11} and its localization determines its role to induce cell death ¹⁰. Therefore, functional studies on the possible translocation of Bmf I in IFNγ-induced cell death are in progress.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Elizabeth Bennett and Kurt Schwalm for technical assistance on selected experiments.

2.6 FIGURES AND LEGENDS



Figure 2-1. IFNγ down regulates Bmf expression.

Bmf mRNA levels were quantified by qRT-PCR in A) AALEB cells, B) HAECs, C) wild-type MAECs E) $STATI^{-/-}$ MAECs, or F) $Bik^{-/-}$ MAECs after treatment with IFN γ (50 ng/ml) and harvested at indicated time points or at 48 h when not stated in the figure. D) Bmf protein levels in lysates of MAECs treated with IFN γ for 48 h. The relative standard curve method was used for analysis of unknown samples, and data are presented as fold change after averaging the Δ CT values for the untreated samples. Data presented are means \pm SEM for three independent experiments. * P<0.05; statistically significant difference from the untreated control.



Figure 2-2. Bmf expression is suppressed by p53.

A) Bmf expression levels in p53-sufficient and -deficient cell lines were evaluated using qRT-PCR; Bmf mRNA levels relative to p53-sufficient A549 are shown for AALEB cells, along with p53-deficient SAOS-2 and Calu-6 cells. B) Western blot analysis of p53 in Calu-6 cells infected with an adenoviral expression vector for p53. C) Relative Bmf mRNA levels quantified by qRT-PCR in Calu-6 cells infected with an adenoviral expression vector for GFP or p53 and exposed to 10 mJ of UV light compared to the respective non-treated controls. D) p53 protein levels in MAEC lysates 6 h after exposure to 10 mJ of UV light. E) MAECs exposed to10 mJ of UV light and analyzed for Bmf mRNA 6 h after exposure to 10 mJ of UV light and analyzed for Bmf mRNA 6 h after exposure to 10 mJ of UV light and analyzed for Bmf mRNA 6, 12, and 24 h after exposure compared to non-treated controls. * P<0.05; statistically significant difference from the control.



Figure 2-3. p53 suppresses HDACi-induced increase in Bmf mRNA and protein levels.

A) Bmf mRNA levels in AALEB cells treated with 5 mM sodium butyrate, 300 nM TSA, and 5 μ M of MS-275 for 18 h compared to non-treated controls. B) Bmf mRNA expression in $p53^{-/-}$ and $p53^{+/+}$ MAECs treated with 300nM TSA for 18 h. Error bar indicates \pm SEM. *, P<0.05; statistically significant difference from the control.



Figure 2-4. IFN- γ induces Bmf mRNA and protein expression in p53-deficient MAECs.

A) Bmf mRNA in IFN γ -treated and non-treated $p53^{-/-}$ MAECs. Error bar indicates \pm SEM. *, P<0.05; statistically significant difference from the control. B) Bmf protein levels in $p53^{-/-}$ and $p53^{+/+}$ MAECs treated with nothing or IFN γ for 48 h.



Figure 2-5. p53 is enriched in the nucleus and interacts with the Bmf promoter.

A) ChIP assays performed on AALEB cells treated with IFN γ for 48 h using a monoclonal antibody to p53 or mouse IgG1 as control. DNA was identified using PCR with primers specific for Bmf promoter regions at -97 or -560 regions. Densitometry was used to quantify the amount of DNA in the PCR products from six independent experiments. Quantification of the DNA associated with p53 was normalized to IgG1, and IFN γ -treated values were normalized to the untreated values. B) Increased p53 protein levels in the nuclear fractions of AALEB cells 48 h after treatment with IFN γ compared to non-treated controls. Nuclear and cytosolic extracts were analyzed for p53, lamin, and actin. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. C) Immunostaining of AALEB cells treated with IFN γ for 48 h with anti- p53 antibody and quantification of p53-positive nuclei. D) Bmf mRNA levels in MAECs isolated from p53^{AP} and p53^{AXXA} and wild-type littermate mice. E) Bmf mRNA levels in AALEB cells treated with nutlin 3 for 24 h. F) Bmf mRNA levels in AALEB cells treated with nutlin 3 and then treated with IFN γ for 48 h or exposed to UV for 6 h and compared to their respective untreated control.



Figure 2-6. IFNy deacetylates p53.

A) HDAC1 interacts with p53. Nuclear lysates were prepared from AALEB cells after treatment with IFNγ for 48 h and were immunoprecipitated using a p53-specific monoclonal antibody. The nuclear lysates (input) and immunoprecipitates were resolved by SDS PAGE and analyzed using Western blotting using antibodies to HDAC1, total p53, and acetyl p53. B) Nuclear extracts prepared from IFNγ-treated and non-treated MAECs and probed for total p53, acetyl p53, and lamin. C) AALEB cells treated with IFNγ for 48 h immunostained with anti-acetyl p53 and quantified.

2.7 References

1. Ossina NK, Cannas A, Powers VC, et al. Interferon-gamma modulates a p53independent apoptotic pathway and apoptosis-related gene expression. J Biol Chem 1997;272:16351-7.

2. Ruiz-Ruiz C, Munoz-Pinedo C, Lopez-Rivas A. Interferon-gamma treatment elevates caspase-8 expression and sensitizes human breast tumor cells to a death receptor-induced mitochondria- operated apoptotic program. Cancer Res 2000;60:5673-80.

3. Trautmann A, Akdis M, Kleemann D, et al. T cell-mediated Fas-induced keratinocyte apoptosis plays a key pathogenetic role in eczematous dermatitis. J Clin Invest 2000;106:25-35.

4. Tesfaigzi Y. Roles of Apoptosis in Airway Epithelia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2006;34:537-47.

5. Shi ZQ, Fischer MJ, De Sanctis GT, Schuyler M, Tesfaigzi Y. IFNg but not Fas mediates reduction of allergen-induced mucous cell metaplasia by inducing apoptosis. J Immunol 2002;168:4764-71.

6. Mebratu YA, Dickey BF, Evans C, Tesfaigzi Y. The BH3-only protein Bik/Blk/Nbk inhibits nuclear translocation of activated ERK1/2 to mediate IFNgamma-induced cell death. J Cell Biol 2008;183:429-39.

7. Tesfaigzi Y, Fischer MJ, Green FHY, De Sanctis GT, Wilder JA. Bax is crucial for IFNg-induced resolution of allergen-induced mucous cell metaplasia. J Immunol 2002;169:5919-25.

8. Stout B, Melendez K, Seagrave J, et al. STAT1 activation causes translocation of Bax to the endoplasmic reticulum during the resolution of airway mucous cell hyperplasia by IFN γ . J Immunol 2007;178:8107-16.

9. Strasser A. The role of BH3-only proteins in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 2005;5:189-200.

10. Puthalakath H, Villunger A, O'Reilly LA, et al. Bmf: a proapoptotic BH3-only protein regulated by interaction with the myosin V actin motor complex, activated by anoikis. Science 2001;293:1829-32.

11. Labi V, Erlacher M, Kiessling S, et al. Loss of the BH3-only protein Bmf impairs B cell homeostasis and accelerates gamma irradiation-induced thymic lymphoma development. J Exp Med 2008;205:641-55.

12. Hubner A, Cavanagh-Kyros J, Rincon M, Flavell RA, Davis RJ. Functional cooperation of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2-family proteins Bmf and Bim in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 2009.

13. Schmelzle T, Mailleux AA, Overholtzer M, et al. Functional role and oncogeneregulated expression of the BH3-only factor Bmf in mammary epithelial anoikis and morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3787-92.

14. Hitomi J, Christofferson DE, Ng A, et al. Identification of a molecular signaling network that regulates a cellular necrotic cell death pathway. Cell 2008;135:1311-23.
15. Itoh T, Itoh A, Pleasure D. Bcl-2-related protein family gene expression during oligodendroglial differentiation. J Neurochem 2003;85:1500-12.

16. Morales AA, Gutman D, Lee KP, Boise LH. BH3-only proteins Noxa, Bmf, and Bim are necessary for arsenic trioxide-induced cell death in myeloma. Blood 2008;111:5152-62.

17. Zhang Y, Adachi M, Kawamura R, Imai K. Bmf is a possible mediator in histone deacetylase inhibitors FK228 and CBHA-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:129-40.

18. Gu W, Roeder RG. Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. Cell 1997;90:595-606.

19. Tang Y, Luo J, Zhang W, Gu W. Tip60-dependent acetylation of p53 modulates the decision between cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. Mol Cell 2006;24:827-39.

20. You Y, Richer EJ, Huang T, Brody SL. Growth and differentiation of mouse tracheal epithelial cells: selection of a proliferative population. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2002;283:L1315-21.

21. Schwalm K, Stevens JF, Jiang Z, et al. Expression of the pro-apoptotic protein bax is reduced in bronchial mucous cells of asthmatics. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2008;294:L1102-9.

22. Dokmanovic M, Marks PA. Prospects: histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Cell Biochem 2005;96:293-304.

23. Xiang J, Chao DT, Korsmeyer SJ. BAX-induced cell death may not require interleukin 1 beta-converting enzyme-like proteases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:14559-63.

24. Greenberg JR. High stability of messenger RNA in growing cultured cells. Nature 1972;240:102-4.

25. AA Morales AO, F Celsing, A Osterborg, M Jondal, and LM Osorio. Expression and transcriptional regulation of functionally distinct Bmf isoforms in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leukemia 2004;18:41-7.

26. Stoecklin G, Anderson P. In a tight spot: ARE-mRNAs at processing bodies. Genes Dev 2007;21:627-31.

27. Dornan D, Shimizu H, Burch L, Smith AJ, Hupp TR. The proline repeat domain of p53 binds directly to the transcriptional coactivator p300 and allosterically controls DNA-dependent acetylation of p53. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:8846-61.

28. Toledo F, Krummel KA, Lee CJ, et al. A mouse p53 mutant lacking the proline-rich domain rescues Mdm4 deficiency and provides insight into the Mdm2-Mdm4-p53 regulatory network. Cancer Cell 2006;9:273-85.

29. Toledo F, Lee CJ, Krummel KA, Rodewald LW, Liu CW, Wahl GM. Mouse mutants reveal that putative protein interaction sites in the p53 proline-rich domain are dispensable for tumor suppression. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27:1425-32.

30. Riley T, Sontag E, Chen P, Levine A. Transcriptional control of human p53-regulated genes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9:402-12.

31. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, et al. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science 2004;303:844-8.

32. Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature 1997;387:299-303.

33. Tang Y, Zhao W, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Gu W. Acetylation is indispensable for p53 activation. Cell 2008;133:612-26.

34. Dornan D, Shimizu H, Mah A, et al. ATM engages autodegradation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase COP1 after DNA damage. Science 2006;313:1122-6.

35. Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell 2009;137:609-22.

36. Yun J, Chae HD, Choy HE, et al. p53 negatively regulates cdc2 transcription via the CCAAT-binding NF-Y transcription factor. J Biol Chem 1999;274:29677-82.

37. Sun Y, Cheung JM, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. Wild type and mutant p53 differentially regulate the gene expression of human collagenase-3 (hMMP-13). J Biol Chem 2000;275:11327-32.

38. Roperch JP, Alvaro V, Prieur S, et al. Inhibition of presenilin 1 expression is promoted by p53 and p21WAF-1 and results in apoptosis and tumor suppression. Nat Med 1998;4:835-8.

39. Kidokoro T, Tanikawa C, Furukawa Y, Katagiri T, Nakamura Y, Matsuda K. CDC20, a potential cancer therapeutic target, is negatively regulated by p53. Oncogene 2008;27:1562-71.

40. Wei CL, Wu Q, Vega VB, et al. A global map of p53 transcription-factor binding sites in the human genome. Cell 2006;124:207-19.

41. Chun AC, Jin DY. Transcriptional regulation of mitotic checkpoint gene MAD1 by p53. J Biol Chem 2003;278:37439-50.

42. Banerjee T, Nath S, Roychoudhury S. DNA damage induced p53 downregulates Cdc20 by direct binding to its promoter causing chromatin remodeling. Nucleic Acids Res 2009;37:2688-98.

43. St Clair S, Giono L, Varmeh-Ziaie S, et al. DNA damage-induced downregulation of Cdc25C is mediated by p53 via two independent mechanisms: one involves direct binding to the cdc25C promoter. Mol Cell 2004;16:725-36.

44. Zhang Y, Adachi M, Kawamura R, et al. Bmf contributes to histone deacetylase inhibitor-mediated enhancing effects on apoptosis after ionizing radiation. Apoptosis 2006;11:1349-57.

45. Marchenko ND, Hanel W, Li D, Becker K, Reich N, Moll UM. Stress-mediated nuclear stabilization of p53 is regulated by ubiquitination and importin-alpha3 binding. Cell Death Differ 2009.

46. Boyd SD, Tsai KY, Jacks T. An intact HDM2 RING-finger domain is required for nuclear exclusion of p53. Nat Cell Biol 2000;2:563-8.

Chapter 3

IFNy Inhibits HDAC1 and Induces Expression of Bmf

to Reduce Allergen-Induced Mucous Cell Metaplasia

3.1 ABSTRACT

Reports show that histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2) levels are reduced in macrophages and other inflammatory cells of patients with severe asthma and COPD, and that HDAC2 suppresses expression of inflammatory genes. However, the role of HDACs in airway epithelial cells and how they affect epithelial cell hyperplasia (ECH) is unknown. Our previous studies have shown that the resolution of MCM during prolonged exposure to allergen is mediated by IFNy through STAT1-mediated effect on the Bcl-2 family of proteins. In cancer cells, Bmf, a pro-apoptotic member of the Bcl-2 family, is suppressed by HDAC1 and histone modifications. Therefore, we investigated the role of HDACs and Bmf in regulating airway epithelial cell death and ECH. We found that various HDAC inhibitors including sodium butyrate, trichostatin A¹, and MS-275 induce Bmf expression not only in cancer cells but also in primary mouse airway epithelial cells (MAECs) and in an immortalized airway epithelial cell line (AALEB cells). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays demonstrated that TSA enhanced acetylation of histones 3 and 4 but reduced the association of HDAC1 with the Bmf promoter in AALEB cells. MAECs from bmf^{-1} but not $bmf^{+/+}$ mice were protected from TSA-induced cell death and restoring Bmf using an adenoviral overexpression system (Ad-Bmf) in *bmf*^{/-} MAECs restored TSA-induced death. Bmf expression was increased in hyperplastic epithelial cells of mice exposed to allergen for prolonged periods, and MCM was resolved, while resolution of MCM was abrogated in *bmf* ⁻mice. IFNγ blocked HDAC1 interaction with the Bmf promoter in airway epithelial cells. Together, these findings suggest that the resolution of allergen-induced MCM is mediated by IFNy disrupting HDAC1 interaction with the Bmf promoter and inducing expression of

this pro-apoptotic protein. These findings suggest that inhibitors specific for HDAC1 may be useful to reduce MCM in asthma and COPD.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

The transfer and removal of acetyl groups from proteins and lysine residues of histones is a critical factor in the regulation of cellular functions and is regulated by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs)². HDACs are targets for cancer and chronic disease therapies because of their important role in the transcriptional control of large numbers of genes, that may be aberrant in tumors or chronic disease³. Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) inhibit HDACs causing changes in gene transcription. Trichostatin A¹ and Na-Butyric acid are pan-HDAC inhibitors meaning that they inhibit all three classes of HDACs⁴ while more recently MS-275 and FK228, class-specific HDACis, have been developed with the goal of increasing specificity and reducing toxicity ³.

HDAC2 mRNA levels are reduced in the bronchial biopsies and alveolar macrophages of patients with severe asthma and COPD ⁵. HDAC2 is also reported to suppress the expression of inflammatory genes. Furthermore, HAT activity is increased in the bronchial biopsies from the severely asthmatic population. These observations suggest that histone modification play a role in the regulation of inflammatory conditions of the lung ⁵.

Aerosol exposure of mice to allergen is an in vivo approach to studying a major characteristic of human allergen-induced asthma. Exposure of ovalbumin-immunized mice to ovalbumin aerosols elicits allergic airway inflammation that causes epithelial cell hyperplasia and mucous cell metaplasia (MCM); as a result of prolonged exposure, hyperplastic AECs and mucous cells are removed via IFNγ -induced cell death⁶.

The resolution of MCM is regulated by cell death regulator proteins that belong to the Bcl-2 family ⁷. Bcl-2 homology (BH) regions characterize proteins from this family, Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, and Mcl-1 have four BH regions and carryout an anti-apoptotic function, while Bax and Bak with three BH regions are pro-apoptotic ⁸. BH3 domain-only proteins as their name so implies possess one BH region, and include Bik, Bmf, Noxa, Puma, Bim, and others ⁹. Interaction between anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic members is critical for apoptosis to occur ⁸. A cell type specific function has been reported for many of the BH3-only proteins. For instance, BH3-only Bik was dispensable for cell death in cells of the hematopoietic compartment¹⁰, but is a critical mediator of IFNγ-induced AEC death ¹¹. Bik is critical for the IFNγ-induced resolution of MCM, as this process is disrupted in the *bik*^{-/-} mice ¹¹. Pro-apoptotic Bax is also important for IFNγ-induced cell death; it translocates to the ER, resulting in the release of calcium stores. Resolution is delayed in *bax*^{-/-} mice¹², demonstrating that Bax is also an important protein for the resolution of MCM.

In gastric carcinoma cell lines, pro-apoptotic BH3 domain-only Bmf has been shown to be important for cell death in response to the HDACis, FK228, and CBHA. In these cells, Bmf expression is increased as a result of increased acetylation of the histones H3 and H4 at the Bmf promoter ¹³. While Bmf-deficient thymocytes and pre-B cells are undergoing apoptosis in response to the HDACi SAHA, they are not resistant to the other HDACis TSA or CBHA¹⁴. These results are indicative of different types of HDACs playing a role in Bmfinduced cell death.

Our findings suggest that AECs are very sensitive to pan-HDAC inhibitors, such as TSA and Na-Butyric acid, while slightly less sensitive to class I-specific MS-275. In AECs

we find that Bmf is strongly induced by HDACis through the displacement of HDAC1 from its promoter and is directly responsible for cell death in response to TSA.

Studies suggest that Bmf is sequestered to the DLC of the cytoskeleton and released in response to cellular stressors causing detachment-induced cell death in MEFs ¹⁵. Translocation to the mitochondria is said to follow release from the cytoskeleton ¹⁵. Further studies in Bmf-deficient mouse embryo fibroblasts and gastrointestinal epithelial cells did not support a critical role for Bmf during anoikis ¹⁴. However, Bmf as a sensitizer to anoikis was reported in mammary epithelial cells ¹⁶.

Because preliminary microscopic studies suggest that hyperplastic AECs detach from the basement membrane during resolution (unpublished), and previous studies suggested that Bmf is important for detachment-induced cell death, we investigated whether Bmf is involved in the IFNγ-induced resolution of MCM. The present report shows that Bmf mediates HDACi-induced cell death in AECs, IFNγ displaces HDAC1 from the Bmf promoter, and Bmf mediates IFNγ-induced cell death. In addition, we show that Bmf is important for the resolution of MCM in the mouse model of asthma.

3.3 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

3.3.1. Cell Culture

The preparation of MAECs was carried out as described¹¹. The immortalized human airway epithelial cells, AALEB cells¹⁷ were maintained in bronchial epithelial medium (BEGM, Lonza, Walkersville, MD)

3.3.2 Animals

Pathogen-free *bmf*^{-/-} on the C57BL/6J background were a gift from A. Strasser (Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, Melbourne Australia). The *bmf*^{-/-} and wild-type C57BL/6J mice were bred at the Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute (LRRI) under specific pathogen-free conditions and genotyped as described ¹⁸. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. LRRI is a facility approved by the Association for the Assessment and Accreditation for Laboratory Animal Care International. Sensitization and exposure of 8-10 wk old mice to ovalbumin was performed as described ¹². Preparation of lung tissues for histopathological examination and staining with Alcian blue and periodic acid Schiff or hematoxylin and eosin as described ⁶. The number of Alcian blue-positive cells per millimeter of basal lamina was quantified using a light microscope (BH-2; Olympus) equipped with the Image analysis system (National Institutes of Health) as described ¹⁹.

3.3.3 Immunohistochemistry

Lung tissue sections were deparaffinized, rehydrated, washed, and after antigen retrieval incubated with monoclonal rat anti-mouse Bmf (17A9 a gift from A. Strasser, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, Melbourne, Australia) primary antibody at 1:500 dilution and anti-rat secondary antibody as described ²⁰. Immunohistochemical stains were imaged using a microscope (Eclipse E600W; Nikon) with a Plan Fluor 60x NA 0.85 objective and a digital camera (DXM1200F; Nikon) with ACT-1 acquisition software (version 2.62l Nikon)

3.3.4 Laser Capture Microdissection

While the left lungs were sectioned for histological analysis, the right lungs of these animals were use for laser capture microdissection (LCM). Right lungs from exposed animals were inflated by carefully injecting OCT (1:4 dilution in PBS) into the large airway, embedded in OCT, and snap frozen. Tissues were cryosectioned and prepared as is described in the manufacturer's protocol. AECs from five large airways were captured using a laser onto CapSure HS LCM Caps (Arcturas MDS Analytical Technologies, Sunnyvale, CA) using the Arcturus system (Arcturus, Bioscience, Inc. Mountain View, CA). Cellular lysate was extracted from the cap using the PicoPure RNA Isolation Kit as described by the manufacturer (Arcturas, Bioscience, Inc.).

3.3.5 mRNA Extraction and Analysis

The RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was used for the extraction of RNA from cell pellets, and concentration was determined using the Thermo Scientific Nanodrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). The primer/probe sets for Bad, Bak, Bax, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Bik, Bmf, CDKN1B, Muc5ac, Noxa, and Puma were obtained from (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Target mRNAs were amplified by quantitative real-time PCR in 20 µl reactions on the ABI PRISM 7900HT Real-Time PCR System using the One-Step RT-PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). Relative quantities from duplicate amplifications were calculated by normalizing averaged C_T values to CDKN1B to obtain ΔC_T , and the relative standard curve method was used for determining the fold change as described ²¹.

3.3.6 Western Blot

Total protein lysates were prepared using RIPA buffer (10 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 15 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, 5 mM EDTA, and protease inhibitors). For histone extraction experiments, lysates were prepared as described ²². Protein concentration was determined by BCA kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL), and 25 μ g of protein lysate were analyzed by Western blotting as described ¹⁷. We used the rat anti-Bmf 17A9 monoclonal antibody, a gift from Dr. Andreas Strasser (the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Melbourne, Australia) at 2 μ g/ml. Mouse anti-actin polyclonal antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.) was used at 1:5000. Goat anti-rat and rabbit anti-mouse secondary antibodies were used for visualizing proteins with chemiluminescence reagents (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA) using FujiFilm Image Reader LAS-4000 (Valhalla, NY).

3.3.7 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

After treating with 300 nM of TSA or 50 ng/ml hr IFNγ for 18 or 48 h, respectively, cells were fixed with 1% formaldehyde, the reaction quenched using 1.25 M glycine, and scraped into cold PBS-containing protease inhibitors. Chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed using the MAGNA0002 Magna ChIP kit (Millipore, Billerica, MA) as described by the manufacturer. Sonicated nuclear fractions were incubated with polyclonal antibodies to acetyl H3 (06-599B Millipore), acetyl H4 (06-598 Millipore), rabbit polyclonal antibody to HDAC1 (06-720 Millipore), and rabbit IgG as control. DNA identification was confirmed with PCR using the following primers specific for the Bmf promoter at region -560 5'-ACCTAAGGGCTCCCCTGGA-3', 5'-GCAGGTCGGAAGAAAACTGCAGC-3', and region -97 5'-TTGGCGCTTCACTCGCCATT-3', 5'-ATCCCGCAAACAGCTGAT-3'.

3.3.8 Quantitative Analysis of Apoptosis

Cells treated in 6-well tissue culture plates as described earlier were harvested using cold Trypsin-EDTA, washed twice in cold PBS, and resuspended in staining buffer (10 mM HEPES, 0.14M NaCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, pH 7.4). Double staining with FITC-Annexin V and Propidium Iodide (PI) was carried out according to the manufacturer's recommendations and then analyzed by FACS to quantitate early apoptotic cells (Annexin V+, PI-) and late apoptotic cells (Annexin V+, PI+).

3.3.9 Adenoviral Expression

RNA (1µg) extracted from AECs using The RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was reverse transcribed using oligo (dT) primers. The following primers were used for PCR, 5'-AGGTACCCCACCATGGAGCCACCTCAGTGTG-3' and 5'-

AGTCTAGATCACACAGGGCCCCACCCCTTC-3'. PCR was performed using the following conditions: 30 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, 55°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 2 min. Bmf and GFP cDNAs were subcloned into the adenovirus expression shuttle vector. Shuttle CMV_Bmf and Shuttle CMV_GFP were packaged into virus-producing cells, and adenovirus particles were harvested as described ²³.

3.3.10 Statistical Analysis

Fold changes, scanned density values, or differences in cell numbers between two groups were averaged and compared for significance between groups using *Student's* t-

test. Data were analyzed using Prism statistical analysis software, and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS 3.4

3.4.1 Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) induce Bmf expression through increasing histone acetylation and displacement of HDAC1.

Based on previous reports in gastric carcinoma cell lines that Bmf is induced by the HDACi FK228 acetylating histone tails on the promoter region, we examined whether methylation or acetylation caused induction of Bmf mRNA in lung cancer cell lines. H1568, H2023, and H2228 cell lines treated with TSA showed a strong induction of Bmf mRNA (Figure 3-1A), while the methylation agent 5-aza-2' deoxycytidine (decitabine, DAC) produced no change in mRNA levels (data not shown). To determine whether this induction is specific to cancer cell lines only, we tested whether primary MAECs reacted to TSA in a similar fashion and found that both Bmf mRNA and protein were induced in response to TSA (Figure 3-1B). Experiments that looked at global acetylation levels of histone 4 in histone-containing lysates extracted from TSA-treated AALEBs showed dramatic increases of acetylated histone 4 (Figure 3-1C). ChIP assays confirmed the acetylation of histones H3 and H4 and the association of HDAC1 at the Bmf promoter. Primer sets were designed for DNA identification to span two different 100 base pair regions of the Bmf promoter, 97 base pairs and 560 base pairs upstream from the start site. We found that the acetylation levels of both histone 3 and histone 4 are increased in response to TSA treatment, and that that TSA diminished the interaction of HDAC1 with both of the Bmf promoter regions (Figure 3-1D).

3.4.2 Expression of pro-apoptotic Bmf induces apoptosis in AECs.

Because Bmf has a pro-apoptotic function ²⁴ and HDACi-induced cell death was mediated by Bmf in B cells ¹⁴, we were interested to see if Bmf mediates HDACi-induced

cell death in AECs. AALEB cell numbers were reduced by 30-50% when treated with various HDACis including TSA, sodium butyrate, and MS-275 (Figure 3-2A). Reports that Bmf is a sensitizer to cell death but cannot induce it on its own¹⁶ led us to test whether Bmf is pro-apoptotic in AECs. We developed an adenoviral expression vector (Ad-Bmf) (Figure 3-2B) and infected primary MAECs with Ad-Bmf and Ad-GFP at 50 MOI; this MOI was selected because expressed levels reproduced the level of Bmf expression that results from TSA treatment. Overexpression of Bmf reduced cell numbers by 50% compared to GFP control at 72 h (Figure 3-2B) suggesting that Bmf is pro-apoptotic in AECs. The extent of cell death was similar to that observed in response to TSA. Annexin V staining, which identifies the translocation of phosphatidylserine from the inner leaflet of the cell's membrane to the outer leaflet and is an early event in apoptotic cells²⁵, showed that Ad-Bmf caused apoptotic cell death compared to Ad-GFPinfected controls. The apoptotic profile is very similar to that observed in response to TSA treatment (Figure 3-2C). Treatment of $bmf^{+/+}$ and $bmf^{/-}$ MAECs with TSA showed that while 50% of $bmf^{+/+}$ MAECs undergo apoptosis, the $bmf^{/-}$ MAECs were resistant to TSA treatment for 18 h (Figure 3-2D). However, when we reintroduced Bmf into the Bmf-deficient MAECs using Ad-Bmf, the TSA-induced cell death was restored, confirming that Bmf is crucial for HDACi-induced cell death in AECs (Figure 3-2E).

3.4.3 *bmf^{-/-}* MAECs are resistant to IFNγ–induced cell death.

To investigate the relevance of Bmf expression causing cell death in an *in vivo* system, we chose the mouse model of asthma in which MCM is resolved after prolonged exposure to allergen. Our findings have repeatedly shown that IFN γ is crucial for the resolution process ^{6,9,11,26}. Therefore, *bmf*^{+/+} and *bmf*^{-/-}MAECs were treated with murine

recombinant IFNγ, and viability was assessed after 96 h of treatment. Bmf-deficiency rendered AECs more resistant to IFNγ (Figure 3-3A), suggesting that Bmf mediated IFNγ-induced cell death. Because Bmf expression was regulated by HDACs interacting with its promoter, we tested the involvement of HDACs by chromatin immunoprecipitation assays using HDAC1 antibodies. AALEB cells treated with IFNγ for 48 h showed decreased association of HDAC1 with the Bmf promoter compared to non-treated controls (Figure 3-3B), suggesting that IFNγ inactivated HDAC1 to induce Bmf promoter activity.

3.4.4 Bmf expression is important during the resolution of mucous cell metaplasia.

These results indicated that the resolution of allergen-induced MCM may be mediated by IFN γ . Therefore, we postulated that Bmf expression may be increased during resolution when dying cells appeared to detach from the basement membrane (unpublished). Indeed, Bmf protein was detected by immunohistotchemistry in the lung tissues of mice exposed to ovalbumin for 15 d (Figure 3-4A), when epithelial cell numbers are reduced ¹¹. To further address the question as to whether Bmf is important during the resolution of MCM, 15 *bmf*^{+/+} and 15 *bmf*^{-/-} mice were exposed to allergen. Lung tissues were harvested at 5, 10, and 15 d after exposure, and the number of mucous cells per mm of basal lamina was quantified. The *bmf*^{-/-} mice did not show a statistically significant decrease in mucous cell numbers at 15 d post allergen exposure as did the *bmf*^{+/+} mice, suggesting that Bmf expression is important for the reduction of mucous cell numbers (Figure 3-4B).

RNA was extracted from AECs captured by LCM and analyzed using qRT-PCR²¹. *Muc5ac*, a mucin gene that constitutes most of the induced mucin following

inflammatory responses ²⁷, showed strong induction at 5 d post allergen exposure as expected and was decreased at 10 and 15 d in both the $bmf^{+/+}$ and $bmf^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 3-4C). This suggests that the increased presence of mucous cells in the $bmf^{-/-}$ mice at 15 days is not a result of increased *muc5ac* mRNA levels.

Eleven Bcl-2 family members that are important in AEC regulation including Bik, Bax, and others were analyzed. While no significant change was observed for other Bcl-2 family members, Bax and Bik mRNAs were significantly increased in the bmf^{-} airways at 15 d post-exposure compared to $bmf^{+/+}$ airway cells (Figure 3-4D), while in the $bmf^{+/+}$ mice bax mRNA levels decreased at 15 days and bik mRNA levels remained unchanged (data not shown). A delayed increase in Bax and Bik in $bmf^{+/+}$ mice expression suggests that mucous cell death may be delayed in the knockout animals.

3.5 DISCUSSION

In the present study we show that HDAC inhibitors induce Bmf expression that is sufficient to induce apoptosis in AECs. Studies show that the Bcl-2 family of proteins and the intrinsic cell death pathway are important in HDACi-induced cell death in malignant cells²⁸, but it is likely that HDACi-induced cell death is cell type specific, because the extrinsic pathway is important in cell death for glucocorticoid-resistant acute lymphatic leukemia cells¹. Studies suggesting that nonmalignant cells undergo apoptosis, while normal cells are protected lead to questions about how normal primary lung epithelial cells respond to HDACi treatment. Recent reports show that TSA has apoptotic effects in primary human eosinophils, neutrophils, and macrophages ²⁹. It has also been reported that TSA treatment increases apoptosis in neuronal cells rendering these cells more vulnerable to certain neurotoxins and increasing susceptibility to Parkinson's disease ³⁰. It is clear that HDACis have varying effects in different cell types and that the exact mechanisms of HDACi-induced cell death are still being elucidated. It is important to understand the effects of HDACis on normal cells, because these agents are in clinical trials for the treatment of human diseases and have implications for the treatment of chronic lung disease.

These studies also demonstrate that TSA inhibits HDAC1 association with the Bmf promoter, increasing acetylation levels of histones 3 and 4. To thoroughly explore the effects of HDACis on Bmf mRNA expression, HDACis from three major classes of inhibitors were tested: TSA of the hydroxamic acid class, sodium butyrate of the carboxylic acid class, and MS-275 of the benzamide class ²⁸, all of which were very strong inducers of Bmf mRNA (our manuscript in review). Of particular interest was the

induction of Bmf by MS-275, which unlike the other inhibitors specifically targets Class I HDACs, narrowing down the HDAC responsible for repression of Bmf to HDAC1, HDAC2, or HDAC8²⁸. This information as well as data suggesting that the overexpression of HDAC1 in gastric carcinoma cells reduces Bmf expression ¹³ led us to investigate the effects of HDAC1 in Bmf regulation in AECs. HDAC1 is important for transcriptional repression of genes in AECs such as, Cyclooxygenase 2 (Cox 2). HDAC1 degradation occurs in response to diesel particle exposure, thus upregulating Cox 2, causing inflammation, and consequently leading to asthma exacerbations and COPD ³¹. HDAC1 is targeted for degradation preferentially over HDAC2 and HDAC3 ³¹, and may be a very important enzyme for gene regulation in AECs.

Bmf-deficient MAEC numbers are not reduced in response to IFNγ treatment. Because *bmf*^{-/-} MAECs behave similarly in response to HDACi treatment, the idea that HDAC1 regulates Bmf in response was tested. ChIP demonstrated that HDAC1 is displaced from the Bmf promoter in response to IFNγ. Although HDAC1 is displaced from the Bmf promoter in response to IFNγ treatment similarly to what is seen in response to HDACi treatment, we do not detect an induction of Bmf mRNA or protein when treating wild-type MAECs with IFNγ. Future studies that focus on capturing the dying cells after IFNγ treatment by using a caspase inhibitor will be important to assess whether the dying cells may express Bmf. IFNγ-induced cell death is a slow process showing a 30% reduction in AEC numbers after 72 h of treatment in nonconfluent cells ¹⁷. In AECs, HDACi treatment is a potent killer; 50% of AECs undergo cell death after 18 h of treatment. Because AECs are naturally exposed to IFNγ, it is a physiologically relevant ^{6, 11, 12, 17} system and perhaps more subtle and regulated in its effects. AECs are

not normally exposed to HDACis, possibly explaining why the effects of Bmf induction are so widespread. Another interesting point is that although we see displacement of HDAC1 in response to IFN γ treatment, it may not be accompanied by hyperacetylation of histone tails. Research suggests that HDACs 1, 2, and 3 are necessary for IFN γ signaling through STAT1³², and HDAC inhibition as a result of HDACi treatment prevents nuclear translocation of STAT1. HDACs may be recruited to another location other than the Bmf promoter within the nucleus in response to IFN γ for specific functions relating to STAT1 signaling. IFN γ causes many effects on AECs, some of which are not fully understood at this time; therefore, further studies looking at the functional response of Bmf to IFN γ are necessary.

The findings from the in vivo mouse asthma model show that Bmf expression is important for the resolution of MCM, because in its absence the clearance of hyperplastic mucous cells is abrogated. Although Bmf protein was detectable at 15 d of allergen exposure, the mRNA level showed no overall change. Bmf protein is expressed at 15 d post exposure, but there is no induction of Bmf mRNA at 10 and 15 d when compared to 5 d. Immunohistochemistry studies demonstrate that Bmf protein is induced in approximately 20% of epithelial cells; induction of mRNA levels in this small population may be too subtle when considering all epithelial cells for mRNA analysis. It also may be that induction of Bmf mRNA is actually seen at times other than 5, 10, or 15 d; it may occur at an earlier or later time point. Further experiments with a more expansive time course will provide insight into this question. A heterogeneous mixture of cells is collected for LCM from the epithelium, including ciliated and nonciliated mucussecreting cells, which may offer another explanation as to why Bmf mRNA levels do not
appear to be induced in the exposure model. The different cell types of the epithelium may have different expression levels of Bmf. The initial increase in total AEC number seen in the $bmf^{+/+}$ mice, which reflects increased mucous cell numbers at 5 d, is not observed in the $bmf^{/-}$ mice. These perplexing results lead to the hypothesis that the total cell number does not increase because the ciliated cells are turning over and the nonciliated mucous secreting cells are maintained in the Bmf-deficient airways. One type of cell is dying while the other type is simultaneously proliferating, so no overall effect is detected. Evidence suggests that epithelial cells have different expression patterns that affect their identities. For instance, the loss of transcription factors E2f4 or foxj1 results in a loss of ciliated cells in the epithelium ^{33, 34}. Other examples of ciliated cell-specific genes include structural proteins such as β -tubulin IV²⁷. Examples of genes specific for mucous-secreting cells include Muc5ac, Clara Cell Secretory Protein (CCSP), and Rab27a^{27, 35}. These mechanisms are complex; however, they support the idea that cell-type specific regulation is a factor in the development and maintenance of the airway epithelium. Further studies are important to illuminate the validity of this hypothesis. Immnofluorescence experiments are underway to locate Bmf protein in sections of allergen-exposed airways, while co-staining for markers specific for ciliated cells and nonciliated mucus-secreting cells. The development of AEC cultures that consist predominantly of mucus-secreting cells or ciliated cells will help to elucidate whether Bmf regulates cell death in these cells.

Mucous cell metaplasia in response to allergen exposure is characterized by the induction of Muc5ac mRNA levels, which is the predominant mucin gene induced in AECs ^{27, 36}. Although mucous cells are sustained at 15 d post exposure in the Bmf-

deficient animals, Muc5ac mRNA levels reflect those observed in the wild-type animals; levels are high at 5 d and reduced at 10 and 15 d. This indicates that resolution is important for the reduction of cell numbers; mucin protein can still exist within the mucous cells while Muc5ac mRNA levels have returned to pre-allergen exposure levels.

Further investigation into the finding that there are differences in expression of Bcl-2 family members, which are major regulators of IFNy-induced cell death, and the resolution of MCM may provide information as to why MCM is not resolved in the *bmf*^{/-} mice. LCM and real-time PCR results in the Bmf-deficient animals show an induction of Bik and Bax at 15 d, an induction not seen in the wild-type animals. Suggesting that regulation differs in the Bmf-deficient animals, this finding leads to the question as to whether Bax is translocating to the ER in the $bmf^{/-}$ animals, as is seen in wild-type animals or whether the function of Bik is abrogated in the absence of Bmf, delaying cell death. Other data suggest there may be an important relationship between Bik and Bmf; when overexpressing Bmf in *bik*^{-/-} MAECs cell death is delayed by 24 h (unpublished data) in comparison to wild-type MAECs. Cell death is also delayed when Bik is overexpressed in bmf^{-} MAECs compared to wild-type cells. These two proteins may function together to carry out cell death in AECs. This is an important area that requires further investigation and the development of a $bmf^{-}bik^{--}$ mouse to test this hypothesis. In conclusion, these results show that HDACis induce Bmf expression through the displacement of HDAC1 from the Bmf promoter, causing cell death in AECs through the induction of Bmf. Furthermore, resolution of allergen-induced MCM is mediated by IFNy blocking HDAC1 interaction with the Bmf promoter, causing an induction in Bmf

expression. These findings support further investigations to evaluate whether HDAC1specific inhibitors may be effective for reducing MCM in asthma and COPD.

3.6 FIGURES AND LEGENDS



Figure 3-1. Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) induce Bmf expression through increasing histone acetylation and displacement of HDAC1.

(A) qRT- PCR results show that Bmf mRNA is induced in response to HDACi, TSA in three different lung cancer cell lines: H1568, H2023, and H2228. (B) TSA induces Bmf mRNA and (C) protein levels in MAECs. (D) Lysates containing extracted histones from TSA-treated AALEBs show global acetylation of histone 4. (E) Chromatin immunoprecipitation of nuclear lysates prepared from AALEB cells treated with TSA, using anti-acetylhistone 3, anti-acetylhistone 4, and anti-HDAC1 reveal that HDACis enhance acetylation of histone 3 and histone 4, and diminish the association of HDAC1 with the Bmf promoter.



Figure 3-2. Bmf causes apoptosis.

(A) AALEB cells were treated with nothing, 300 nM TSA, 5 mM NaB or 5 μM of MS-275 for 18 hr. Cells were harvested and quantified using trypan blue exclusion. Cell numbers were reduced significantly in HDACi-treated groups. (B) MAECs overexpressing Bmf protein as a result of infection with Ad-Bmf at 50 MOI show a reduction in cell number compared to MAECs infected with Ad-GFP at 50 MOI. (C) Annexin V staining of TSA-treated MAECs compared to non-treated and Ad-Bmfinfected MAECs compared to Ad-GFP infected MAECs. D) HDACis induce cell death in *bmf*^{+/+} MAECs; however, *bmf*^{-/-}MAECs are resistant to HDACi-induced cell death. *bmf*^{+/+} and *bmf*^{-/-}MAECs were treated with 300 nM of TSA for 18 hr. Cells were quantified by trypan blue exclusion assay. E) *bmf*^{-/-}MAECs, were infected with 50 MOI Ad-Bmf or Ad-GFP and treated with TSA for 18 hr. Cells were harvested and quantified. Ad-Bmf restores cell death compared to Ad-GFP-infected cells treated with HDACi.



Figure 3-3.IFNγ-induced cell death is reduced in Bmf-deficient MAECs.

A) The percentage of viable cells is not decreased after 96 hr of IFN γ treatment in *bmf*^{/-} MAECs compared to *bmf*^{+/+}. Cells were harvested and quantified using trypan blue exclusion. B) Chromatin immunoprecipitation of nuclear lysates prepared from AALEB cells treated with IFN γ show that HDAC1 is displaced from the Bmf promoter after 48 h treatment.



Figure 3-4. Bmf is important during the resolution of MCM. A) Bmf protein is induced in vivo during resolution of MCM. Immunohistochemistry was used to stain for Bmf in 0 d, 5 d, 10 d, and 15 d sectioned tissues of ovalbumin-exposed mice. A statistically greater number of cells are positive for Bmf in the 15 d tissues. B) Resolution of MCM as a result of prolonged exposure to allergen is inhibited in *bmf*⁷⁻MAECs. ABH&E was used to stain sectioned tissues from 5 d, and 15 d *bmf*⁷⁻and *bmf*⁴⁺⁺ mice. Tissues from five mice from each group were blinded, and mucous cells/mm basal lamina were quantified. There is a statistically significant decrease in mucous cell numbers at 15 d compared to 5 d in the wild-type animals. This difference is not observed in the *bmf*⁷⁻mice. C) qRT-PCR showing Muc5ac mRNA levels from LCM captured AECs from the right lungs of 5 and 15 d ovalbumin-exposed *bmf*⁴⁺⁺ and *bmf*⁷⁻mice. D) LCM captured AECs from ovalbumin-exposed mice show altered mRNA expression levels of other Bcl-2 family members in the Bmf-deficient mice. qRT-PCR results show that Bax and Bik mRNA levels are significantly induced at 15 d in the AECs of ovalbumin-exposed *bmf*¹⁻mice compared to 5 d.

3.7 REFERENCES

1. Tsapis M, Lieb M, Manzo F, et al. HDAC inhibitors induce apoptosis in glucocorticoid-resistant acute lymphatic leukemia cells despite a switch from the

extrinsic to the intrinsic death pathway. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007;39:1500-9.

2. Hu E, Dul E, Sung CM, et al. Identification of novel isoform-selective inhibitors within class I histone deacetylases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2003;307:720-8.

3. Khan N, Jeffers M, Kumar S, et al. Determination of the class and isoform selectivity of small-molecule histone deacetylase inhibitors. Biochem J 2008;409:581-9.

4. Dokmanovic M, Marks PA. Prospects: histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Cell Biochem 2005;96:293-304.

5. Ito K, Ito M, Elliott WM, et al. Decreased histone deacetylase activity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2005;352:1967-76.

6. Shi ZO, Fischer MJ, De Sanctis GT, Schuyler MR, Tesfaigzi Y. IFN-gamma, but not Fas, mediates reduction of allergen-induced mucous cell metaplasia by inducing apoptosis. J Immunol 2002;168:4764-71.

7. Tesfaigzi Y. Roles of apoptosis in airway epithelia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2006;34:537-47.

8. Adams JM. Ways of dying: multiple pathways to apoptosis. Genes Dev 2003;17:2481-95.

9. Tesfaigzi Y. The role of apoptotic regulators in metaplastic mucous cells. Novartis Found Symp 2002;248:221-30; discussion 30-6, 77-82.

10. Coultas L, Bouillet P, Stanley EG, Brodnicki TC, Adams JM, Strasser A. Proapoptotic BH3-only Bcl-2 family member Bik/Blk/Nbk is expressed in hemopoietic and endothelial cells but is redundant for their programmed death. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:1570-81.

11. Mebratu YA, Dickey BF, Evans C, Tesfaigzi Y. The BH3-only protein Bik/Blk/Nbk inhibits nuclear translocation of activated ERK1/2 to mediate IFNgamma-induced cell death. J Cell Biol 2008;183:429-39.

12. Tesfaigzi Y, Fischer MJ, Daheshia M, Green FH, De Sanctis GT, Wilder JA. Bax is crucial for IFN-gamma-induced resolution of allergen-induced mucus cell metaplasia. J Immunol 2002;169:5919-25.

13. Zhang Y, Adachi M, Kawamura R, Imai K. Bmf is a possible mediator in histone deacetylase inhibitors FK228 and CBHA-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:129-40.

 Verna L, Miriam Erlacher, Stephan Kiessling, Claudia Manzl, Anna Frenzel, Lorraine O'Reilly, Andreas Strasser, and Andreas Villunger. Loss of the BH3-only protein Bmf impairs B cell homeostasis and accelerates gamma irradiation-induced thymic lymphoma development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2007;1658:15.
 Puthalakath H, Villunger A, O'Reilly LA, et al. Bmf: a proapoptotic BH3-only protein regulated by interaction with the myosin V actin motor complex, activated by anoikis. Science 2001;293:1829-32.

16. Schmelzle T, Mailleux AA, Overholtzer M, et al. Functional role and oncogeneregulated expression of the BH3-only factor Bmf in mammary epithelial anoikis and morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3787-92. 17. Stout BA, Melendez K, Seagrave J, et al. STAT1 activation causes translocation of Bax to the endoplasmic reticulum during the resolution of airway mucous cell hyperplasia by IFN-gamma. J Immunol 2007;178:8107-16.

18. Frenzel A, Labi V, Chmelewskij W, et al. Suppression of B-cell lymphomagenesis by the BH3-only proteins Bmf and Bad. Blood 2010;115:995-1005.

19. Hotchkiss JA, Harkema JR, Henderson RF. Effect of cumulative ozone exposure on ozone-induced nasal epithelial hyperplasia and secretory metaplasia in rats. Exp Lung Res 1991;17:589-600.

20. Harris JF, Fischer MJ, Hotchkiss JR, et al. Bcl-2 sustains increased mucous and epithelial cell numbers in metaplastic airway epithelium. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005;171:764-72.

21. Schwalm K, Stevens JF, Jiang Z, et al. Expression of the proapoptotic protein Bax is reduced in bronchial mucous cells of asthmatic subjects. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2008;294:L1102-9.

22. Turner BM, O'Neill LP, Allan IM. Histone H4 acetylation in human cells. Frequency of acetylation at different sites defined by immunolabeling with site-specific antibodies. FEBS Lett 1989;253:141-5.

23. Xiang J, Chao DT, Korsmeyer SJ. BAX-induced cell death may not require interleukin 1 beta-converting enzyme-like proteases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:14559-63.

24. VanBrocklin MW, Verhaegen M, Soengas MS, Holmen SL. Mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition induces translocation of Bmf to promote apoptosis in melanoma. Cancer Res 2009;69:1985-94.

25. Vermes I, Beishuizen A, Hampsink RM, Haanen C. Dissociation of plasma adrenocorticotropin and cortisol levels in critically ill patients: possible role of endothelin and atrial natriuretic hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995;80:1238-42.

26. Pierce J, Rir-Sima-Ah J, Estrada I, Wilder J, Strasser A, Tesfaigzi Y. Loss of proapoptotic Bim promotes accumulation of pulmonary T lymphocytes and enhances allergen-induced goblet cell metaplasia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2006;291:L862-70.

27. Young HW, Williams OW, Chandra D, et al. Central role of Muc5ac expression in mucous metaplasia and its regulation by conserved 5' elements. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2007;37:273-90.

28. Boyle GM, Martyn AC, Parsons PG. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and malignant melanoma. Pigment Cell Res 2005;18:160-6.

29. Kankaanranta H, Janka-Junttila M, Ilmarinen-Salo P, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors induce apoptosis in human eosinophils and neutrophils. J Inflamm (Lond, #40) 2010;7:9.

30. Wang Y, Wang X, Liu L. HDAC inhibitor trichostatin A-inhibited survival of dopaminergic neuronal cells. Neurosci Lett 2009;467:212-6.

31. Cao D, Bromberg PA, Samet JM. COX-2 expression induced by diesel particles involves chromatin modification and degradation of HDAC1. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2007;37:232-9.

32. Klampfer L, Huang J, Swaby LA, Augenlicht L. Requirement of histone deacetylase activity for signaling by STAT1. J Biol Chem 2004;279:30358-68.

33. Danielian PS, Bender Kim CF, Caron AM, Vasile E, Bronson RT, Lees JA. E2f4 is required for normal development of the airway epithelium. Dev Biol 2007;305:564-76.
34. Gomperts BN, Kim LJ, Flaherty SA, Hackett BP. IL-13 regulates cilia loss and foxj1 expression in human airway epithelium. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2007;37:339-46.

35. Tolmachova T, Anders R, Stinchcombe J, et al. A general role for Rab27a in secretory cells. Mol Biol Cell 2004;15:332-44.

36. Zuhdi Alimam M, Piazza FM, Selby DM, Letwin N, Huang L, Rose MC. Muc-5/5ac mucin messenger RNA and protein expression is a marker of goblet cell metaplasia in murine airways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2000;22:253-60.

Chapter 4

Discussion

In the present studies, we investigated the regulation and function of Bmf in AECs with a focus on two apoptotic stimuli, IFNγ and HDACis. IFNγ is important for the regulation of cell numbers in the airway epithelium and causes the resolution of MCM. Because MCM is a crucial component of chronic lung disease, including asthma, these studies contribute to clarifying the role of Bmf in asthma. Our studies on the regulation of Bmf by HDACis was based on previous studies in cancer cells and led us to identify Bmf as a mediator of HDACi-induced cell death. Therefore, HDACis may be useful for treatment of chronic lung disease to reduce MCM.

Specific questions generated from the major findings of these studies.

1) Is the suppressive effect of p53 on Bmf important for IFNy-induced cell death?

2) Although Bmf is downregulated by IFN γ it appears to be important in IFN γ induced cell death; therefore, we are interested to investigate what role Bmf plays in IFN γ -induced cell death.

3) Why do Bmf expression levels vary greatly between tissue and cell types, and what is the role of the different Bmf isoforms in AECs?

4) The fact that Bmf is important during the resolution of MCM suggests that Bmf functions in conjunction with other pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members that are also crucial for this resolution.

5) Do mouse airway epithelial cells (MAECs) from Bmf-deficient mice attach to cell culture plates better than Bmf-sufficient MAECs because their survival is longer during the time they are detached from the basement membrane?

6) Can HDACis be used to induce Bmf specifically in mucous cells to initiate cell death in metaplastic mucous cells?

4.1 The role of p53 in the regulation of Bmf expression by IFN_γ and HDACis

Experiments presented here show that IFNy treatment causes nuclear accumulation of p53 and increased association with HDAC1. This association resulted in the reduction of acetylated p53 and the interaction of p53 with the Bmf promoter (Figure 4-1). p53 is activated through posttranslational events, such as acetylation and phosphorylation¹. The acetylation of p53 by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) induces p53-dependent growth arrest and apoptosis, while deacetylated p53 promotes cell survival in cancer cell lines ¹. In support of these previous findings, IFN γ deacetylated p53 and suppressed Bmf expression, suggesting that p53 has an inhibitory role in IFNyinduced cell death. This cell death inhibitory role of p53 requires further investigation, because of the overwhelming evidence for the pro-apoptotic role of p53 in response to many stimuli². However, there is support that p53 does play an anti-apoptotic role as well. Physiological-relevant levels of p53 protect fibroblasts from undergoing serum withdrawal-induced apoptosis³. In addition, anti-apoptotic roles for p53 in cellular processes such as DNA repair and the cell cycle have been established ⁴. Experiments designed to identify the region of p53 that interacts with HDAC1 will allow for the development of a p53 mutant that is unable to interact with HDAC1. IFN γ would be unable to deacetylate this mutant p53 and sustaining acetylated p53 would enhance cell death, if this pathway is suppressing cell death.

IFNγ affects the airway epithelium in several ways; it mediates the resolution of airway epithelial hyperplasia by inducing apoptosis^{5, 6}, it has inhibitory effects on the development of mucous cells ⁷, and at low concentrations it enhances the development of mucous cell metaplasia (MCM) ⁸. Our studies demonstrate that two Bmf isoforms are expressed in AECs, so it is possible that IFNγ affects the regulation of Bmf isoforms differently. Studies in lymphoma cells show that three Bmf transcripts are translated into isoforms of Bmf. Bmf (Bmf I) is pro-apoptotic, and Bmf II and Bmf III promote survival and growth ⁹. Through the development of Bmf are affected in AECs in response to IFNγ. However, because Bmf II, a pro-survival protein, was suppressed by IFNγ, expressing the p53 mutant that is deficient in interacting with HDAC1 will likely suppress cell death.

Although Bax is crucial for IFN γ -induced cell death ¹⁰, Bax mRNA is also downregulated in response to IFN γ . Future studies will investigate whether p53 regulates Bax and Bmf mRNAs by similar mechanisms. Western blot analysis of lysates from *p53* ^{-/-} and *p53* ^{+/+} MAECs treated with IFN γ will show whether p53 suppresses Bmf or Bax, supporting the idea that p53 may have an inhibitory role in the IFN γ -induced cell death pathway.

Previous studies show no difference in IFN γ -induced cell death in *p53* ^{+/+} and *p53* ^{-/-} MAECs at 96 h ¹¹. However, it is important to analyze the cell death of *p53* ^{-/-} MAECs at 24, 48, and 72 h because cell death may be delayed in the p53-deficent cells. It is possible that at earlier time points the *p53* ^{-/-} MAECs are more resistant to cell death and

that shortly before 96 h a p53-independent mechanism drives the cell death process so that a large number of cells undergo apoptosis in a delayed manner. This may account for the similar cell numbers in the $p53^{+/+}$ and $p53^{-/-}$ MAECs after 96 h of IFN γ treatment.

IFN γ dramatically induces Noxa mRNA and protein levels within 1 h (data unpublished). Therefore we investigated whether Noxa mediates IFN γ -induced nuclear accumulation of p53. Western blot analysis of nuclear lysates from *noxa*^{+/+} and *noxa*^{-/-} MAECs treated with IFN γ (data not shown) showed no difference, suggesting that Noxa is not involved in the accumulation of p53 in the nucleus. Future studies will test whether other signaling proteins that are activated by IFN γ treatment including JNK or ERK1/2 ¹¹ are involved in IFN γ -induced effects on p53.

Our studies show that p53 suppressed the Bmf promoter activity not only in response to IFN γ but also following UV irradiation (Figure 2-2) or cytochalasin D treatment, (Appendix C). Bmf promoter activity is also suppressed in response to HDAC1 in cancer cell lines ¹². The fact that HDACi treatment acetylated histones 3 and 4 and displaced HDAC1 suggests that chromatin remodeling plays a crucial role for Bmf regulation in AECs as well. Acetylation of histone tails causes DNA to relax, allowing transcription factors to access the Bmf gene¹³. The Bmf gene promoter does not contain any p53-binding motifs; therefore, it is likely that p53 is part of a protein complex that suppresses transcriptional activity. It is important to identify these p53-interacting proteins in order to elucidate the role of p53 in the suppression of Bmf. Identification of these proteins will be the first step in clarifying the molecular events that occur when p53 is deacetylated by HDAC1 in response to IFN γ . In addition, these studies will help

clarify the role of p53 in chromatin remodeling that appears to be independent from HDAC-mediated suppression of Bmf transcription.

4.2 The role of Bmf in IFNγ-induced cell death

Our studies show that $bmf^{-/-}$ MAECs are resistant to IFN γ -induced cell death at 96 h (Figure 3-3). Bmf mRNA and protein expression were downregulated at 48 h, however Bmf levels have not been examined at 96 h of IFN γ treatment in non-differentiated cells. IFN γ induces cell death in 30 % of AECs after 72 h, but in 50% after 96 h. Bmf may be important for the accelerated levels of apoptosis observed between 72 and 96 h. Because Bmf may be induced in expression at later time points when cells undergo cell death, future studies will examine cell death in $bmf^{-/-}$ MAECs over 24, 48, and 72 h of IFN γ treatment. If cell death is delayed over 96 h, we will conclude that Bmf is important for cell death at the later time points in response to IFN γ .

The findings that Bmf expression is suppressed by IFN γ while Bmf mediates IFN γ -induced cell death suggest that the low levels of Bmf protein present in AECs are sufficient to cause cellular death. It is possible that controlling Bmf at low levels may be crucial to ensure the selective induction of cell death in hyperplastic AECs rather than eliminating the majority of AECs that are in the G0 phase if high levels of Bmf were to be expressed. Immunofluorescent staining to observe the translocation of Bmf protein in response to IFN γ in MAECs will help identify the cell compartments and the proteins involved.

As discussed in Chapter 3, another explanation for this paradox may be that Bmf is only necessary to facilitate cell death in mucus-secreting cells of the epithelium (Figure 4-2) while being downregulated in the other cell types. Because our *in vitro* studies used

non-differentiated epithelial cells, the regulation may not represent the complexity of diverse cell types found in the airway epithelium.

In an effort to explore the cell type-specific affect of Bmf in mucus-secreting and ciliated cells of the epithelium bmf^{-} and bmf^{++} , MAECs were grown on Transwell membranes until confluent and driven to differentiation in air-liquid interface conditions. These cultures were treated with IFNy for 48 h to simulate the conditions of prolonged allergen exposure in airway epithelia in vivo. The purpose of this study was to test whether IFNy has a specific effect on the Bmf-deficient cultures, and to use immunostaining to evaluate whether there is heterogeneous expression of Bmf within the cell types in wild-type cultures. This study is in progress. ABH&E staining will allow for the quantification of cell numbers/mm basal lamina. Immunofluorescent staining will visualize ciliated and mucous cells with antibodies to β -tubulin or Muc5ac, respectively. Co-immunostaining for Bmf in the $bmf^{+/+}$ MAECs will show whether expression is specific to the different cell types. Our hypothesis is that there will be more mucous cells in the IFN γ treated *bmf*^{-/-} cultures and fewer ciliated cells, and that Bmf expression will co-localize with Muc5ac expression. Alternatively, future experiments will investigate IFNy-induced Bmf expression in the various cell types of the airway epithelium using cultures that predominantly consist of either mucus-secreting or ciliated cells.

To explore the cell type-specific function of Bmf *in vivo*, transgenic approaches can be used either to overexpress Bmf using cell type-specific promoters or by using the Cre/loxP system to target gene expression in mucus-secreting or ciliated cells. Expression of a gene can be targeted to Clara cells by driving the expression of Crerecombinase with the CCSP promoter ¹⁴. To selectively delete Bmf in these cells, CCSP

can be flanked by two lox P sites. A mouse expressing Cre-recombinase under the CCSP or the FOXJ1 promoters ¹⁵ will then be bred into a mouse expressing floxed Bmf. When Cre-recombinase is expressed, the segment of DNA in between the two lox P sites will be excised, knocking out Bmf either in Clara or ciliated cells. Clara cells differentiate into mucus-secreting cells of the small airway and will provide information about the function of Bmf in all mucus-secreting cells. Generating such mice will allow for the investigation of Bmf function in mucus-secreting or ciliated cells *in vivo* because prolonged exposure of these transgenic mice to allergen will allow the delineation of Bmf function in mucus-secreting cells is that Bmf-deficient mucus-secreting cells will be unable to undergo apoptosis, while apoptotic pathways will be unaffected in ciliated cells.

4.3 Bmf expression in the lung

Protein lysates extracted from various murine organs showed that significant Bmf protein levels are found in the lung liver and spleen tissues but not in the heart (Appendix A and data not shown). Interestingly, while high levels of Bmf protein were detected in lung tissue, they are not detected in MAECs. Previous studies have analyzed various cell types of the hematopoietic compartment for Bmf protein expression; very high expression levels are found in the immature CD4+8+ thymocytes, while much lower levels are found in the mature resting T cells or mitogen-stimulated T cell lymphoblasts. Bmf expression is found throughout the B cell development with the exception of pro-B cells, in which no expression is detected ¹⁶. Because, in cultured AECs, Bmf protein expression is detected at much lower levels than that detected in the lung tissue, we assume that Bmf is expressed in cell types other than epithelial cells. Immunofluorescent

studies are needed to identify the cell types that express Bmf protein within the lung. Should Bmf be expressed in AECs of intact lungs, we will conclude that epithelial cells when cultured suppress Bmf expression. It is also possible that Bmf is expressed in types I and II cells, or in macrophages, both of which are abundant in normal lungs. However, because the lung structure and function of bmf' mice appear normal, Bmf does not seem to have a role in the development of the lung.

Similar to findings of Verna et al. in hematopoietic cells, we find that two isoforms of Bmf are expressed in lung tissue as well as AECs¹. Because different isoforms of Bmf with potentially different functions are expressed in the lung, we have generated an adenoviral expression system that expresses a single pro-apoptotic isoform of Bmf. However, when AECs are infected with this virus two Bmf-specific protein bands were detected on Western blots (Appendix E). The smaller band corresponds to the molecular weight of Bmf, suggesting that the larger Bmf isoform may actually represent Bmf with posttranslational modifications. Future studies will also generate adenoviral expression vectors to specifically express the larger Bmf isoforms and allow the investigation of these isoforms in AECs.

4.4 The functional role of Bmf during resolution of MCM

Results from the allergen exposure study suggest that mucous cell numbers remain higher in the $bmf^{/-}$ compared to $bmf^{+/+}$ mice after 15 d of allergen exposure. However, Bik and Bax were induced in epithelia of $bmf^{/-}$ mice exposed to allergen for 15 d. These findings suggest that resolution of AEC hyperplasia was delayed in $bmf^{/-}$ mice and may occur if mice are exposed for longer periods. Therefore, in the future, 30 mice will be exposed to allergen and groups of 5 sacrificed at 0, 2, 5, 10, 20, and 30 d. Earlier time points will be included to determine whether Bmf mRNA may be increased in $bmf^{/-}$ mice at 2 or 5 d. Analysis of the airway epithelium of $bmf^{/-}$ mice at 20 and 30 d will allow us to evaluate whether the delayed induction of Bik and Bax will drive the resolution of MCM.

IFNy-induced cell death is a complex process involving different members of the Bcl-2 family of proteins such as, Bax, Bak, Noxa, and Bik. The finding that IFNy-induced cell death is inhibited in *bmf*^{-/-} MAECs suggests that Bmf mediates this cell death process. In addition, overexpression of Bik protein, a central mediator of IFNy-induced cell death in AECs¹¹, induced Bmf mRNA (data not shown). In *bik^{-/-}* MAECs, Bmf expression causes cell death 24 h later than it does in $bik^{+/+}$ MAECs (unpublished). Cell death is also delayed when Bik is expressed in bmf^{+} compared to bmf^{++} MAECs. These results support the idea that Bik and Bmf may function in tandem. Because Bik is induced in *bmf*⁻ MAECs (Figure 3-4), we hypothesize that Bik is upstream of Bmf. Bik is induced at 24 h¹¹ and may cause Bmf to translocate to specific organelles to cause cell death. Immunofluorescent staining in time course experiments after IFNy treatment will assess the time of Bmf translocation. In addition, infection of cells with adenoviral vectors expressing Bik will assess whether Bik mediates Bmf translocation. Control studies will use *bik*^{-/-} MAECs to elucidate whether Bik mediates IFN_γ-induced Bmf translocation.

To further evaluate the functional relationship between Bmf and Bik, it is important to generate cells in which both genes are deleted. Breeding of $bmf^{-/-}bik^{-/-}$ mice would allow for the investigation as to whether these proteins are dependent on one another to carry out cell death. We assume that the mutual deletion of these two proteins would

render AECs unable to undergo apoptosis in response to IFNy. Reintroducing expression of each of these proteins individually will allow us to examine the role and function of each protein and determine whether both proteins are required to restore cell death in response to IFNy.

Preliminary data from the first allergen exposure study suggest that inflammatory cell numbers are higher in the lung lymph nodes from Bmf-deficient mice compared to wild-type mice (Appendix F). When stimulated these $bmf^{-/-}$ lymphocytes trend toward producing more IL-13 and IFN γ than the wild-type controls after 10 d of allergen exposure. In addition, it is important to evaluate the inflammatory response during the time course of allergen exposure in $bmf^{+/+}$ and $bmf^{-/-}$ mice. This can be determined with differential cell counts and analysis of Th2 cytokines in the bronchoalveolar lavage collected at the time of lung harvest. This is important because previous studies show that Bmf is involved in cell death of hematopoietic cells¹⁶, and mucous cells may be sustained in $bmf^{-/-}$ mice due to prolonged survival of inflammatory cells that produce Th2 cytokines.

Results from the allergen exposure study presented in Chapter 3 (Figure 3-4B) suggest that mucous cells in the $bmf^{/-}$ mice have a survival advantage over the mucous cells in the $bmf^{+/+}$ mice. Total AEC numbers at 5 d in the $bmf^{/-}$ allergen-exposed mice were not elevated as they were in wild-type animals; however, mucous cell numbers were increased. There are several possible explanations for this apparent discrepancy. First, the fact that the total cell numbers were not increased suggests that Bmf may have an important role in promoting survival of ciliated cells. In the absence of Bmf, these cells may turnover at an accelerated rate. Second, studies suggest that cytokines such as, Il-13

can alter the differentiation of ciliated cell ¹⁷ and increase the proportion of secretory cells¹⁸, so it is possible that Bmf-deficiency alters the rate of ciliated cell differentiation into mucous cells.

4.5 The role of Bmf in attachment of AECs to the basement membrane

Deficiency in Bmf greatly improved attachment and growth. This was observed when *bmf*^{-/-} and *bmf*^{+/+} MAECs were grown in serum-free medium and without collagen coating of culture plates, conditions that improve attachment of MAECs, (Appendix D). This finding may be explained by the fact that Bmf may have an important role in the death of cells during the attachment process. Studies show that Bmf sensitizes mammary epithelial cells to detachment-induced cell death¹⁹. Therefore *bmf*^{-/-} MAECs may have a longer life span and a better chance to attach to the culture plate and grow. Alternatively, Bmf may be a crucial protein in sustaining isolated stem cells that can proliferate and establish MAEC cultures ²⁰.

Disruption of tight junction proteins, such as occludin and claudin-1, cause cell death and epithelial cell extrusion, a process in which contraction of actin and myosin in neighboring cells extrudes dying cells from the epithelial layer ^{21, 22}. Experiments in differentiated HAECs show that the disruption of cell-to-cell junctions causes apical extrusion, which is shown to be anoikis, or detachment-induced cell death ²². Because we have observed epithelial cells that appear to be extruded during the reduction of hyperplastic epithelial cells, we assume that anoikis and apical extrusion may be involved in the removal of airway epithelial cells. In the future, immunofluorescent staining and 3-D confocal images will be used to visualize whether Bmf-expressing cells show apical extrusion in differentiated MAECs and in murine airways *in vivo*. In addition, expressing

Bmf using Ad-Bmf in differentiated cultures combined with immunofluorescent staining for occludin and claudin-1, as well as a marker for apoptosis such as caspase-3, may establish that Bmf expression causes AEC extrusion. These studies will clarify whether Bmf expression can be used as a marker for cells that are extruding from the epithelium. Because these cells that have the potential for metastasis ²³, the studies may have significance in identification of metastatic cells in cancer.

4.6 The potential utility of HDACi therapy in treating chronic lung disease

Asthma, cystic fibrosis, and COPD are chronic airway diseases characterized by mucous hypersecretion, which obstructs airflow and increases wheezing, coughing, or in the case of sudden secretion can completely obstruct the airway and lead to patient death. In addition, the presence of a large amount of mucus in the airway traps toxins and pathogens in the airway, enhancing damage to the lung ²⁴. Because our findings suggest that Bmf is important for mucous cell apoptosis, and that HDACis induce apoptosis through the induction of Bmf, HDACis may be useful in the treatment of chronic lung disease. Treatment of differentiated MAECs with IL-13 to induce MCM, followed by treatment with HDACis will show whether this approach reduces MCM. Similarly, we will examine whether HDACis are efficient in reducing allergen-induced MCM in mice.

In summary, our results suggest that Bmf is an important pro-apoptotic protein for regulation and maintenance of AECs. Bmf is important for AEC death in response to IFN γ and HDACi; these apoptotic stimuli upregulate the transcription of Bmf by modifying the interaction of HDAC1 with the promoter (Figure 4-3). Although we cannot eliminate the idea that apoptotic stimuli regulate Bmf posttranslationally by causing it to translocate from the cytoskeleton to the mitochondria as proposed by

Puthalakath et al. in Figure 1-1, the regulation of Bmf in AECs may be unique because increased transcription and protein synthesis may provide sufficient Bmf to directly affect mitochondria and cause cell death. In addition, efficiency of Bmf-induced cell death appears to vary depending on cell types of the airway epithelium. Exploring the functional roles of Bmf may provide new means of treating chronic lung diseases.



Figure 4-1. Model for regulation of Bmf mRNA by p53 in response to IFN_γ.



Figure 4-2. Model for the cell-type specific effect Bmf potentially has in mucus-secreting cells of the epithelium. Cells removed from the epithelium are replaced by neighboring cells.



Figure 4-3. Model for the regulation of Bmf by IFN_γ and HDACis in AECs.

4.9 REFERENCES

1. Tang Y, Zhao W, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Gu W. Acetylation is indispensable for p53 activation. Cell 2008;133:612-26.

2. Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell 2009;137:609-22.

3. Lassus P, Ferlin M, Piette J, Hibner U. Anti-apoptotic activity of low levels of wild-type p53. EMBO J 1996;15:4566-73.

4. Janicke RU, Sohn D, Schulze-Osthoff K. The dark side of a tumor suppressor: anti-apoptotic p53. Cell Death Differ 2008;15:959-76.

5. Shi ZO, Fischer MJ, De Sanctis GT, Schuyler MR, Tesfaigzi Y. IFN-gamma, but not Fas, mediates reduction of allergen-induced mucous cell metaplasia by inducing apoptosis. J Immunol 2002;168:4764-71.

6. Harris JF, Fischer MJ, Hotchkiss JR, et al. Bcl-2 sustains increased mucous and epithelial cell numbers in metaplastic airway epithelium. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005;171:764-72.

7. Cohn L, Homer RJ, Niu N, Bottomly K. T helper 1 cells and interferon gamma regulate allergic airway inflammation and mucus production. J Exp Med 1999;190:1309-18.

8. Pierce J, Rir-Sima-Ah J, Estrada I, Wilder J, Strasser A, Tesfaigzi Y. Loss of proapoptotic Bim promotes accumulation of pulmonary T lymphocytes and enhances allergen-induced goblet cell metaplasia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2006;291:L862-70.

9. AA Morales AO, F Celsing, A Osterborg, M Jondal, and LM Osorio. Expression and transcriptional regulation of functionally distinct Bmf isoforms in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leukemia 2004;18:41-7.

10. Tesfaigzi Y, Fischer MJ, Daheshia M, Green FH, De Sanctis GT, Wilder JA. Bax is crucial for IFN-gamma-induced resolution of allergen-induced mucus cell metaplasia. J Immunol 2002;169:5919-25.

11. Mebratu YA, Dickey BF, Evans C, Tesfaigzi Y. The BH3-only protein Bik/Blk/Nbk inhibits nuclear translocation of activated ERK1/2 to mediate IFNgamma-induced cell death. J Cell Biol 2008;183:429-39.

12. Zhang Y, Adachi M, Kawamura R, Imai K. Bmf is a possible mediator in histone deacetylase inhibitors FK228 and CBHA-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2006;13:129-40.

13. Dokmanovic M, Marks PA. Prospects: histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Cell Biochem 2005;96:293-304.

14. Bertin G, Poujeol C, Rubera I, Poujeol P, Tauc M. In vivo Cre/loxP mediated recombination in mouse Clara cells. Transgenic Res 2005;14:645-54.

15. Zhang Y, Huang G, Shornick LP, et al. A transgenic FOXJ1-Cre system for gene inactivation in ciliated epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2007;36:515-9.

16. Verna L, Miriam Erlacher, Stephan Kiessling, Claudia Manzl, Anna Frenzel, Lorraine O'Reilly, Andreas Strasser, and Andreas Villunger. Loss of the BH3-only protein Bmf impairs B cell homeostasis and accelerates gamma irradiation-induced thymic lymphoma development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2007;1658:15. 17. Tyner JW, Kim EY, Ide K, et al. Blocking airway mucous cell metaplasia by inhibiting EGFR antiapoptosis and IL-13 transdifferentiation signals. J Clin Invest 2006;116:309-21.

 Laoukili J, Perret E, Willems T, et al. IL-13 alters mucociliary differentiation and ciliary beating of human respiratory epithelial cells. J Clin Invest 2001;108:1817-24.
 Schmelzle T, Mailleux AA, Overholtzer M, et al. Functional role and oncogeneregulated expression of the BH3-only factor Bmf in mammary epithelial anoikis and morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3787-92.

 Rock JR, Onaitis MW, Rawlins EL, et al. Basal cells as stem cells of the mouse trachea and human airway epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:12771-5.
 Beeman NE, Baumgartner HK, Webb PG, Schaack JB, Neville MC. Disruption of occludin function in polarized epithelial cells activates the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis

leading to cell extrusion without loss of transepithelial resistance. BMC Cell Biol 2009;10:85.

22. Vermeer PD, Denker J, Estin M, et al. MMP9 modulates tight junction integrity and cell viability in human airway epithelia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2009;296:L751-62.

23. Slattum G, McGee KM, Rosenblatt J. P115 RhoGEF and microtubules decide the direction apoptotic cells extrude from an epithelium. J Cell Biol 2009;186:693-702.
24. Curran DR, Cohn L. Advances in mucous cell metaplasia: a plug for mucus as a therapeutic focus in chronic airway disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2010;42:268-75.

Appendices

APPENDIX A:

Expression of Bmf protein in lung tissue

Studies from Verna et al.¹ demonstrate that Bmf protein expression is variable in different cell types. To characterize the $bmf^{-/-}$ mice and the anti-murine Bmf 17A9 monoclonal antibody, both of which were gifts from A. Strasser (Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, Melbourne, Australia), a Western blot was run comparing lung and heart tissue from $bmf^{-/-}$ and $bmf^{+/+}$ mice. The antibody described in Verna et al.¹ shows two distinct bands, which represent the 25 kD and 30 kD isoforms of Bmf. Two light background bands also appear in the lung extracts from $bmf^{-/-}$ and $bmf^{+/+}$ mice. These bands are cross-reacting products and presumably unrelated to Bmf. Bmf protein expression was detected in the lung tissue, while none was detected in the heart tissue.

Figure and Figure Legend (Appendix A)



Appendix A. Bmf protein expression in heart and lung tissue. Lung (lane 1) and heart (lane 2) tissues from bmf^{-} and $bmf^{+/+}$ mice were homogenized on ice in 100 µl of saline with protease inhibitors using a tissue homogenizer. After addition of 50 µl of 3x RIPA buffer, samples were incubated on ice for 15 min while the samples were vortexed every 5 min and centrifuged at 14, 000 RPM for 10 min. The soluble fraction was isolated and protein concentration determined using a BCA assay. 50 µg of protein was used for the Western blot as described earlier (3.3.6). Immuoblot was probed for Bmf (17A9) and the loading control β-Actin.

APPENDIX B

Growth factor withdrawal induces Bmf mRNA

The medium used to grow AECs in culture must contain nutrients and growth factors, which include retinoids, epidermal growth factor (EGF), hydrocortisone, transferring, triiodothyronine, epinephrine and insulin. Studies report that growth factors are an important component in medium for growing and maintaining healthy epithelial cells in culture ². Epithelial cells grown in medium without the growth factors, insulin, and EGF, have difficulty attaching to the cell culture plates. Because withdrawal of EGF induced Bmf expression in MCF-10A mammary epithelial cells³, we carried out this experiment in AECs. Minimal Bmf induction was observed when either EGF or insulin was individually removed from the medium; however, a significant induction of Bmf mRNA was seen when insulin and EGF were removed from the medium.

Figure and Figure Legend (Appendix B)



Appendix B. Growth factor withdrawal reduces AEC numbers and induces Bmf mRNA.

Bmf mRNA is induced in response to growth factor withdrawal. AALEB cells were plated to be 30% confluent and 24 h later maintained with or without insulin and EGF for 48 h. Cells were harvested, RNA extracted using the Qiagen RNA extraction kit, and qRT-PCR was used to analyze Bmf mRNA expression (A). Trypan blue exclusion was used to quantify AECs after the absence of EGF and insulin for 24 and 48 h. Growth factor withdrawal reduces AEC numbers.

APPENDIX C:

Cytochalasin D treatment changes Bmf mRNA expression

The disruption of actin filament integrity with either cytochalasin D or jasplakinolide induces apoptosis in AECs, suggesting that actin may be important in the apoptotic pathway ⁴. Latrunculin A treatment, another agent that disrupts actin polymerization, induces Bmf mRNA in MCF-10A cells ³. Our studies show that the treatment of AECs with cytochalasin D cause the AECs to round up and lose normal morphology, followed by AEC death (unpublished). Whether this is related to the induction of Bmf seen at 24 h is unknown.

Figure and Figure Legend (Appendix C)



Appendix C: Treatment with cytochalasin D initially reduced but then induced Bmf mRNA levels at 24 hr.

HCCBE cells, an AEC line derived from NHBEs, were plated in 6-well dishes, grown to 35% confluency, and 24 h later were treated with cytochalasin D at a concentration of 1μ g/ml. Cells were harvested using trypsin at 0, 1, 3, and 24 h, RNA was extracted using the Qiagen RNA extraction kit, and qRT-PCR was used to analyze Bmf mRNA levels.
APPENDIX D:

bmf⁻⁻ and *bmf*^{+/+} MAECs grown in attachment-poor conditions

Collagen-coated culture plates and medium containing fetal bovine serum are important for primary AEC growth and attachment. $bmf^{/-}$ and $bmf^{+/+}$ MAECs were plated on culture plates without collagen and in serum-free medium. These experiments revealed that the $bmf^{/-}$ MAECs have an advantage over the $bmf^{+/+}$ MAECs grown in these conditions.

Figure and Figure Legend (Appendix D)



Appendix: D *bmf*^{-/-} MAECs are more resistant to serum deprivation when compared to *bmf*^{+/+} MAECs.

 bmf^{-} and bmf^{++} MAECs (75,000) were plated in 6-well culture dishes without collagen coating and in serum-free medium. Photomicrographs were taken at 72 h, and cell numbers were determined after harvest at 96 h.

Appendix E:

Expression of Bmf in AALEB cells

Infecting AALEBs with adenoviral Bmf (as described in 2.2.6) produces two Bmf specific bands when compared to non-infected cells. The adenovirus was designed to produce the 25kD isoform of Bmf; however, another band that is ~30kD was expressed as well. This band is not present in the non-infected cells, nor is it expressed in cells infected with Ad-GFP (data not shown). This second band may be the result of a posttranslational modification of the smaller form of Bmf.

Figure and figure legend (Appendix E)



Appendix E. Infection of AALEB cells with Ad-Bmf results in the expression of two Bmf-specific bands. AALEB cells were infected with Ad-Bmf, and 24 h later cells were harvested and analyzed by Western blotting using the 17A9 anti-Bmf antibody (described in Appendix A); β-Actin was used as a loading control.

APPENDIX F:

Lymph node cell numbers in allergen exposed *bmf*^{-/-}and *bmf*^{+/+}mice

Lung lymph nodes from allergen exposed $bmf^{/-}$ and $bmf^{+/+}$ mice were removed at the same time that the lungs were harvested at 5, 10, and 15 d of allergen exposure. We collected these organs to investigate whether allergen exposure produced changes in the immune response in the $bmf^{/-}$ mice compared to $bmf^{+/+}$.

Figure and figure legend (Appendix F)



Appendix F. Cell numbers are greater in the lung lymph nodes of allergen-exposed *bmf*^{-/-} mice. A single cell suspension was prepared from the lymph nodes using a gentle grinding technique. Red blood cells were lysed, and lymph node cells were resuspended in 0.5 ml of culture medium. Cells were filtered through a sterile cell strainer and then counted. Cells were plated in medium containing either Concanavalin A or ovalbumin to stimulate cytokine production in 48 well dishes in triplicate. Cells were harvested 48 h later, and cytokine levels were assessed with an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

References:

1. Verna L, Miriam Erlacher, Stephan Kiessling, Claudia Manzl, Anna Frenzel, Lorraine O'Reilly, Andreas Strasser, and Andreas Villunger. Loss of the BH3-only protein Bmf impairs B cell homeostasis and accelerates gamma irradiation-induced thymic lymphoma development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 2007;1658:15.

2. Bottenstein J, Hayashi I, Hutchings S, et al. The growth of cells in serum-free hormone-supplemented media. Methods Enzymol 1979;58:94-109.

3. Schmelzle T, Mailleux AA, Overholtzer M, et al. Functional role and oncogeneregulated expression of the BH3-only factor Bmf in mammary epithelial anoikis and morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3787-92.

4. White SR, Williams P, Wojcik KR, et al. Initiation of apoptosis by actin cytoskeletal derangement in human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2001;24:282-94.